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Starland Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was 
incorporated in the Republic of Singapore on 20 
October 2011 under the Companies Act (Chapter 
50) of Singapore as a private limited company. It was 
converted to a public limited company on 13 April 2012 
and admitted to the Catalist Board of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) 
on 27 April 2012. The Company and together with 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), were formed pursuant 
to a restructuring exercise which involved acquisition 
and rationalisation of the Group’s corporate and 
shareholding structure prior to the initial public offering 
of the Company (the “IPO”).

The Company is a property developer for quality integrated residential and commercial properties in the People’s Republic 
of China (the “PRC”). With established expertise in key aspects of property development and management, the Company 
operates a vertically integrated business model from site selection, land acquisition, project conceptualisation, construction, 
sale, completion and after-sale services. The Company intends to build a strong presence and brand name for quality 
integrated residential and commercial properties projects in Chongqing and other 2nd and 3rd tier PRC cities, focusing on 
large scale, mid to high end and multi-phased projects.

The Group is selective in choosing the land location of its property development projects as it believes that future growth, 
government plans and amenities are the critical buying factors. For the living comfort of the residents, the Group places 
a high emphasis on the workmanship of its residential properties, incorporating proper landscaping, recreational facilities 
and infrastructure to create an upscale, desirable living environment to attract its target customers. The Group’s residential 
properties are also integrated with commercial and retail shops space for the convenience of the residents, which also 
enhance the investment value of its properties.

The Group’s development properties are mainly located in Fuling, Chongqing, the PRC. The Group’s first completed 
property development project is the University Town project. The Group commenced its construction in December 2009 
and completed in April 2011. The University Town project has received four awards in the PRC, bearing testimony to 
the quality of its development. University Town is an integrated residential and commercial property development which 
occupies a land area of approximately 19,330 square metres and has a total gross foot area (“GFA”) of approximately 
42,521 square metres. It comprises 9 blocks of high-rise apartment towers with 302 residential units, 81 commercial units, 
and underground car park comprising 112 parking lots.  

The 2nd project, Singapore Garden, has commenced construction in the second quarter of 2012. Singapore Garden 
is an integrated residential and commercial property development located at the heart of Fuling with close proximity to 
amenities such as a school, commercial mall, retail shops and recreational parks which has a total area of approximately 
100,000 square metres. The development occupies a land area of approximately 32,616 square metres and has a GFA of 
approximately 107,142 square metres. After completion, it will consist of 9 blocks of 19-storey apartment towers comprising 
approximately 960 residential units and several commercial units. The development is expected to be completed by the 
second half of 2014.
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Sales Statistics

Date of Completion

SINGAPORE GARDEN  新加坡花苑

8 Wubao Road, Fuling

Mid to High-end Market

Leasehold

32,616

107,142

Location

Target Market

Site Area (sq m)

Total GFA (sq m)

Ongoing Property Developments
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Percentage Interest

Existing Use

Land Tenure

Stage of Completion

100%

Residential and Commercial

NA

30% (est)

Second half of 2014



Completed Property Development

UNIVERSITY TOWN  学府新城

89 Julong Avenue, Lidu, Fuling

Mass Market

19,330

42,521

-    301 residential units sold
-    19 commercial units sold

-    62 unsold commercial units leased out

April 2011

ROYAL WATERHOUSE  江畔豪庭

Zone 5, Dianyi Residential Committee, 
Jiangbei Office, Fuling

Leasehold Leasehold

High-end

25,560

25,560
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Residential Residential and Commercial

100% 100%

Construction Not Commenced

NA

NA Completed

Proposed Property Development



 May 2008
•	 Entered into an agreement with the Fuling 

Land Bureau to acquire the land use 
rights of its first land parcel (the ongoing 
Singapore Garden project)

•	 Entered into an agreement with the 
Fuling Land Bureau to acquire the land 
use rights of its second land parcel (the 
completed University Town project)

 July 2008
•	 Entered into an agreement with 

the Fuling Land Bureau to acquire 
the land use rights of its third 
land parcel (the proposed Royal 
Waterhouse project)

•	 Incorporated Chongqing Gangyuan 
Property Development Co., 
Ltd to own the land use rights 
of University Town and Royal 
Waterhouse

 September 2009
•	 Incorporated Chongqing Tianhu 

Land Co., Ltd to own the land use 
rights of Singapore Garden
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 January 2010
•	 Incorporated Chongqing 

Starland Property Services 
Co., Ltd (Formerly known 
as Chongqing Gangyuan 
Tuowei Property Service 
Co., Ltd) as our property 
management company

 April 2011
•	 Successfully completed our first 

property development project, 
University Town. Project value 
approximately RMB257.7 million

•	 Incorporated Xiamen Starland 
Trading Limited (Formerly known as 
Xiamen Yida Trading Limited)

 September 2011
•	 Sold 239 residential units and 

9 commercial units, recorded 
revenue from the sale of properties 
of approximately RMB76.8 million 

  October 2011
•	 Incorporation of Starland Holdings 

Limited

 April 2012 

•	Admission of 

144,733,000 ordinary 

shares to the Official List 

of SGX-Catalist
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  January 2011
•	 Incorporated Jumbo Equity 

Group Limited



“

We are PreParIng 

anD have COMMenCeD 

aDvertIsIng & 

PrOMOtIOnaL aCtIvItIes, 

PrICIng strategy anD 

COLLatIOn Of POtentIaL 

CustOMer LIst fOr the 

fIrst Phase LaunCh Of 

sIngaPOre garDen. 

“

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS
On behalf of the Board of Directors (the 
“Board”) of Starland Holdings Limited (the 
“Company” and together with its subsidiaries, 
the “Group”), I would like to present to you the 
first annual results of the Group for the financial 
year ended 30 September 2012 (“FY2012”).  

FY2012 proved to be a challenging year 
for the real estate market for China as the 
Central Government of China (the “Central 
Government”) had on several occasions 
reiterated its determination to curb the real 
estate industry until property prices fall to an 
affordable level for the general public. With 
all these rules and regulations in place, real 
estate projects have experienced a sharp 
slow-down in sales in major cities in China. 
Some developers in Chongqing have reacted 
to these measures by building units that are 
slightly larger than 20 square metres resulting 
in a lower absolute selling price.  

The Central Government had in February 2012 
and May 2012 announced the relaxation of 
bank reserve quantum. While I do not see this 
as an inflection point from the government on 
the real estate industry, it does to a certain 
extent increase the liquidity in the market and 
ease borrowing tension from the potential 
buyers. 
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99.5% 

Chongqing, Fuling
For the first half of 2012, it is reported that 
Chongqing’s GDP grew by 14.0% year-
on-year to RMB530 billion and it was 6.2 
percentage points higher than the national 
average of 7.8%. It is expected that such 
growth will continue due to the shifting of 
manufacturing cooperation towards the 
inner land of China. For instance, Hewett-
Packard announced in April 2012 on their 
intention to build their printer production 
base in Chongqing. Accordingly, the 
employment rate in Chongqing is expected 
to improve. According to a report from 
China News Financial Channel Statistics, 
the average salary in Chongqing, which 
ranked number 10 in China, amounted 
to RMB40,402 per annum for 2011, 
representing an increment of 7.6% from 
the previous year. The data has provided 
us with an indication of the overall spending 
power of the residents which will have a 
direct impact on the real estate industry. 

Fuling is a satellite city of Chongqing and 
is famous for the Zha Cai (榨菜), which 
is preserved vegetables. The vision of 
Chongqing Municipal People’s Government 
is to build a “Double hundred” Fuling by 2020 
meaning a city size of at least 100 square km 
and having an urban population of 1 million. 
Currently, Fuling has an urban population 
of approximately 560,000 and with another 
500,000 staying in the rural area. The local 
authority has intended to build infrastructure 
and encourage manufacturing cooperation in 
this area to crystalise their vision. 

Our property 
and development
Our Group currently has two projects on 
hand, namely University Town which has 
been completed, and Singapore Garden, 
which is currently undergoing construction.

Development of our maiden project, 
University Town, has completed and the 
residential and commercial units were 
99.5% and 9.6% sold respectively as of 30 
September 2012. The unsold commercial 
units were fully rented out to a supermarket 
operator, a bank, restaurateurs and retailers, 
giving us good recurring income and cash 
flow. Our intention remains on selling these 
commercial units at a reasonable price 
despite receiving some unsolicited offers. 

Our second project, Singapore Garden, 
is currently under construction. We have 
completed the structural work and started 
developing three residential buildings and 
one commercial building. The Singapore 
Garden has reached its initial launch status 
and will commence first sale launch before 
the Chinese Lunar New Year in 2013. 
Currently, we are preparing and have 
commenced advertising & promotional 
activities, pricing strategy and collation of 
potential customer list in preparation for the 
first phase launch.   

Looking ahead
Going into FY2013, our main focus is on 
the first launch of Singapore Garden. For 
this first launch, we are expecting to launch 
approximately 270 residential units out 
of the aggregate 960 units in Singapore 
Garden with a GFA of approximately 22,467 
square metres. We are currently obtaining 
the pre-sale permits from the relevant local 
authority to proceed with the first launch of 
Singapore Garden. 

The Central Government has signaled 
that the cooling measures imposed on 
the real estate industry would continue 
until housing prices become affordable. 
Despite the recent relaxation of the bank 
reserve quantum, the rules which have 
been imposed on the Chinese banks on the 
loan quantum to real estate developers all 
these years have resulted in slower growth 
and tighter cash flow for the PRC real 
estate industry in FY2012. We expect this 
to continue throughout FY2013.

Notwithstanding the above, the Group is still 
on the lookout for land parcels with good 
proximity to amenities and high density area to 
build up its land bank for future development. 

Appreciation
We wish to thank our management 
team and staff for their dedication and 
contributions to the Group. We would also 
like to extend our sincere appreciation to 
our shareholders, customers and business 
associates for their continued trust and 
dedicated support in us.

Tan Hoe San
Executive Chairman and Managing Director

residential units sold 
for University Town

Design plan for Singapore Garden
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Operating and

   financial review

Financial Highlights
For the financial year ended 30 September 2012 

(“FY2012”), the Group recorded revenue of RMB36.1 

million, representing a decrease of 54% as compared to 

FY2011. Revenue was mainly derived from the sales of 

residential and commercial units of the University Town 

project and the decrease in revenue was mainly due to the 

lower sales of our residential units. Our sale of residential 

and commercial properties accounted for 92% of our total 

revenue for FY2012 from the University Town project. During 

this financial year, we have sold and recognised sales of 62 

residential units and 10 commercial units with an aggregate 

gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately 6,903 sq metres 

and 381 sq metres respectively as compared with the 

sales of 239 residential units and 9 commercial units with 

an aggregate GFA of approximately 22,665 sq metres 

and 415 sq metres, respectively, for FY2011. The average 

selling prices of residential and commercial properties were 

approximately RMB3,500 per sq metres and RMB16,300 

per sq metres respectively for FY2012, a slight increase 

from RMB3,300 per sq metres and RMB16,000 per sq 

metres respectively for FY2011. As at the end of FY2012, 

99.5% of the residential units and 9.6% of the commercial 

units of the University Town project were sold.

“
Our saLe Of resIDentIaL anD 

COMMerCIaL PrOPertIes aCCOunteD fOr 

92% Of Our tOtaL revenue fOr fy2012 

frOM the unIversIty tOWn PrOjeCt.“
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Rental income derived from the rental of commercial units 

in University Town project amounted to RMB2.4 million or 

6% of total revenue in FY2012 as compared to RMB0.8 

million for FY2011.

The Group recorded operating profit before tax of RMB1.1 

million, representing a decrease of 94% as compared 

to FY2011. The decrease in operating profit was mainly 

due to a reduction in property units sold and increase in 

administrative expenses due to the listing on SGX-ST, which 

included a one-off listing expenses amounting to RMB8.3 

million and the continuing listing related expenses which 

included staff costs of RMB4.7 million. Without taking into 

consideration the one-off listing expenses, the operating 

profit before tax would be RMB9.4 million.  

Income tax expenses amounted to RMB7.3 million for 

both FY2012 and FY2011. As a result of the foregoing 

factors, the Group posted a loss after tax amounting to 

RMB6.3 million for FY2012 as compared to a profit after 

tax of RMB9.3 million for FY2011.

On a per share basis, basic and diluted loss per share 

is RMB4.34 cents as compared to earnings per share 

of RMB7.79 cents in FY2011. Net asset value per share 

as at end of FY2012 amounted to RMB86.01 cents, a 

RMB12.99 cents increase as compared to RMB73.02 

cents in FY2011.

Business segment
The Group derives their revenue mainly from sales of 

properties, rental income and other income such as 

management fees. For FY2012, their contribution rate 

to revenue was 92.0%, 6.6% and 1.4% respectively 

(FY2011: 98.8%, 1.0% and 0.2% respectively). The Group 

derives their profit solely from the People’s Republic of 

China. 
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group

     structure

JUMBO EQUITY GROUP LIMITED

XIAMEN STARLAND TRADING LIMITED 
(厦门星岛园贸易有限公司)

CHONGQING STARLAND 
PROPERTY SERVICES CO., LTD. 
(重庆星岛园物业服务有限公司)

CHONGQING TIANHU LAND CO., LTD.
(重庆天湖置地有限公司)

CHONGQING GANGYUAN PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
(重庆港源房地产开发有限公司)

100%

100%

100%

100%100%

STARLAND HOLDINGS LIMITED



extending
Our foothold



Our established expertise and competitive strengths aid us in 
building a strong presence and brand name for developing and 
managing integrated residential and commercial properties in 
the PRC. With a keen understanding of local market conditions, 
consumer mentality and strategic locations of land banks, we 
are well on our way to expanding our business. 
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Tan Hoe San
Mr Tan Hoe San is our Executive 
Chairman and Managing Director and 
was appointed to the Board of our 
Company on 20 October 2011. Mr Tan 
founded our Group in August 2008, 
when he ventured into the property 
development business in Fuling, 
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). 
Prior to this, he was the deputy general 
manager of Zhangzhou Golden River 
Estate Development Co., Ltd. (漳州
金河房地产开发有限公司) from April 
2006 to July 2008, where he was in 
charge of the development of Golden 
River Square. He was also the deputy 

general manager of Zhangzhou City 
Gaohui Property Development Co., 
Ltd. (漳州高辉房地产开发有限公司) from 
April 2004 to April 2005, where he 
was in charge of the development of 
Gaohui Apartment. 

From April 2006 to September 2011, 
he was the executive director of Fun 
Corp. From April 2006 to July 2008, 
he was the deputy general manager 
of Fun Corp. From May 2005 to March 
2006, he was an assistant operation 
trainer in Hang Ten Enterprises Pte. 
Ltd.. From April 2001 to October 
2003, he worked as a field service 

engineer in Mandarin Opto-Medic 
Co. Pte. Ltd.. From December 1998 
to March 2001, he was the regional 
operation manager of Fun Corp and 
responsible for the retail operations in 
Chongqing and Sichuan Province of 
the PRC. 

Mr Tan obtained a Diploma in 
Manufacturing Engineering from 
Singapore Polytechnic in May 
1996 and a Bachelor of Commerce 
in International Supply Chain 
Management from Curtin University of 
Technology in September 2003.

Board of

    Directors
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Fan Yi Ru
Ms Fan Yi Ru is our Non-Executive 
Director and was appointed to 
the Board of our Company on 10 
January 2012. Ms Fan co-founded 
our Group with Mr Tan Hoe San in 
August 2008. From August 2008 to 
September 2011, she was the finance 
and administrative manager in our 
Group. Prior to that, from October 
2006 to September 2011, she was an 
executive director in Fun Corp. From 
October 2006 to December 2008, 
she held the position of manager in 
charge of finance, administration, 
and sales in Fun Corp. From October 
1999 to December 2000, she was 
also employed in Fun Corp as a sales 
operations manager.

She has more than 15 years of 
experience in finance and sales, also 
having previously worked in Philips 
Electronics (S) Pte. Ltd. from March 
2001 to May 2006, with the last held 
position as an assistant manager. She 
worked in Motorola Electronics (S) Pte 
Ltd as an order fulfilment executive 
from October 1997 to September 
1999. She worked in Genes Industry 
Pte Ltd as an administrative and 
accounts executive from November 
1996 to September 1997, and in Wing 
Tai Property Management Pte Ltd as 
an assistant accounts officer from 
August 1995 to September 1996. 

Ms Fan obtained a Diploma in 
Accountancy from Ngee Ann 
Polytechnic in June 1995 and 
a Bachelor of Arts (Business 
Administration) from Ottawa University 
in September 1997. Ms Fan is the 
spouse of our Company’s Executive 
Chairman and Managing Director, Mr 
Tan Hoe San.

 

Foong Daw Ching
Mr Foong Daw Ching is our 
Independent Director and was 
appointed to the Board of our 
Company on 26 March 2012. He 
has more than 30 years of audit 
experience and is the senior partner 
of Baker Tilly TFW LLP. He is also the 
chairman of the Asia Pacific region for 
Baker Tilly International Limited. He 
was the managing partner of Baker 
Tilly TFWLCL as it then was (also 
known as TeoFoongWongLCLoong), 
an audit firm in Singapore until March 
2010. 

Between 1979 and 1985, he was 
an audit senior and subsequently an 
audit manager with Price Waterhouse 
Singapore, an international 
audit firm. Thereafter, he joined 
TeoFoongWongLCLoong as one of 
the founding partners. 

Mr Foong is a Fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England 
and Wales, a Fellow of the Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants of 
Singapore and a Fellow of CPA 
Australia. He is also an independent 
director and the chairman of the 
audit committee of Medi-Flex 
Limited, Travelite Holdings Ltd. and 
Suntar Eco-city Limited (formerly 
known as Reyphon Agriceutical 
Limited), all of which are companies 
listed on the SGX-ST. He was 
awarded the Merit Service Award 
by the Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants of Singapore in 2000, 
and a Public Service Medal (Pingat 
Bakti Masyarakat) by the President of 
Singapore in 2003.

Low Wai Cheong
Mr Low Wai Cheong is our 
Independent Director and was 
appointed to the Board of our 
Company on 26 March 2012. He has 
been an equity partner of Chris Chong 
& C T Ho Partnership since April 2004, 
and is currently the partner in charge 
of the firm’s corporate and securities 
practice. He is also involved in the 
overall management and business 
direction of the firm as part of the 
firm’s executive committee.

Prior to that, he was at Yeo-Leong 
& Peh LLC (formerly known as Yeo-
Leong & Peh) from 1994 to 2004, 
where he was the head of its China 
Desk and corporate department. He 
is also an independent director and 
chairman of the remuneration and 
nomination committees of China 
Fibretech Limited, a company listed 
on the SGX-ST.

Mr Low graduated from the National 
University of Singapore with a 
Bachelor of Laws and a Masters of 
Law Degree.  
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Chua Wei Chye Lawrence
Mr Chua Wei Chye Lawrence is our 
Chief Financial Officer, joining our Group 
in August 2012. He is responsible for the 
Group’s strategic planning, corporate 
planning, corporate structuring, financial 
planning, treasury functions, financial 
reporting and accounts. Prior to joining 
our Group, he was the finance manager 
of Wanxiang International Limited, a 
listed company on the SGX-ST, from 
February 2009 to August 2012. From 
July 2007 to November 2008, he was 
the group’s financial controller of Allied 
Technologies Limited, a company 
listed on the SGX-ST. From November 
2002 to July 2007, he was with Ernst 
& Young’s assurance department. 
During his stay with Ernst & Young, 
he was involved in the audit of various 
industries, listed companies and initial 
public offering project for companies 
going for listing on the SGX-ST and the 
NASDAQ. He subsequently left the firm 
as an audit manager. From July 2000 to 
November 2002, he was with the audit 
department of BDO Raffles (formerly 
known as BDO International). 

Mr Chua graduated from Association 
of Chartered Certified Accountants 
(“ACCA”) in 1999 and obtained 
a degree of Master in Business 
Administration from Manchester 
Business School in 2011. He is 
a Fellow of Chartered Certified 
Accountants and an associate 
member of Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants of Singapore.

Zhong Ma Ming
Mr Zhong Ma Ming is our General 
Manager, joining our Group in January 
2009. Mr Zhong has more than 20 
years of relevant experience in the PRC 
retail industry. He was a managing 
director of Fun Corp from March 2006 
to December 2008 and an executive 
director of Benefun from March 2006 
to December 2008, where he was in 
charge of their business and operation 
strategies in the PRC. From October 
1989 to February 2006, he was a 
deputy general manager in Fun Corp, 
and was appointed as its executive 
director in June 1997. During this 
time, he was responsible for project 
management and development of its 
retail shops in the PRC.

Mr Zhong was previously an executive 
director and general manager of 
Zhangzhou City Gaohui Property 
Development Co., Ltd. (漳州高辉房
地产开发有限公司) from March 2004 
to December 2005, and Zhangzhou 
Golden River Consultancy and 
Property Management Co., Ltd. (
漳州金河顾问与物业有限公司) from 
May 2008 to June 2009. Mr Zhong 
is currently an executive director 
of Xiamen Jinzhongyuan Trading 
Development Co., Ltd. (厦门市金中园工
贸发展有限公司). He was an executive 
director of Xiamen Xiangyu Presto 
Co., Ltd. (厦门象屿波士托贸易有限公司) 
from July 1996 to August 2008.

He was also a Member of the Sixth 
Committee of the Chinese People’s 
Political Consultative Conference in 
Huli District, Xiamen (中国人民政治协商
会议厦门市湖里区第六届委员会委员). 

Fu Zi Cong
Mr Fu Zi Cong is our Financial 
Controller, and has more than 20 years 
of accounting and finance experience. 
Prior to joining our Group in January 
2009, he was an executive director 
and financial controller of Benefun from 
June 1997 to December 2008, where 
he had worked from 1989 to 2008. He 
was also an executive director of Fun 
Corp from June 1997 to May 2010, 
and their financial controller from June 
1989 to December 2008. Mr Fu was an 
executive director of Xiamen Xiangyu 
Presto Trading Co., Ltd. from July 1996 
to August 2008. He was employed 
in a state owned enterprise, Xiamen 
City Sugar, Cigarette and Alcohol Co., 
Ltd. (厦门糖烟酒公司) in the finance 
department from 1975 to 1989. 

Mr Fu graduated with a Diploma in 
Business Accounting in Fujian Radio 
and Television University (福建广播电视
大学) in July 1986.

Luo Deng Xiao
Mr Luo Deng Xiao is our Deputy 
General Manager and joined our 
Group in August 2008. Prior to that, 
from April 1992 to July 2008, he 
was a superintendent in Fuling Iron 
Alloy Plant (涪陵铁合金厂) in charge 
of operations, administrative matters, 
human resources and finance 
matters, where he held the position of 
head of technical department. He was 
also a planning executive in Sichuan 
Automobile Factory (四川汽车制造厂) 
from July 1983 to March 1992, where 
he was in charge of its production 
plans and supervised the production 
departments. 

Mr Luo graduated with a Diploma 
in Economic Management from the 
Party School of the Central Committee 
of the Communist Party of China (中共
中央党校) in June 2000.
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The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Starland Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed to maintaining high 

standards of corporate governance within the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) by complying with the Code of 

Corporate Governance 2005 (the “Code”) so as to ensure greater transparency and protection of shareholders’ interests. 

This report sets out the Company’s corporate governance practices with specific reference to the principles of the Code.

BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board is entrusted with the responsibility for the overall management of the Group with primary function to protect 

interest of shareholders and to enhance long-term shareholders’ value. Besides carrying out its statutory duties and 

responsibilities, the Board reviews and advises on overall strategic plans, key operational initiatives, Management’s 

performance and assumes responsibility for overall corporate governance of the Group to ensure that the Group’s 

strategies are in the interests of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for the approval of the following corporate matters:

a) strategic direction of the Group;

b) business practices and risk management of the Group;

c) annual budgets, major funding proposals, investment and divestment of proposals;

d) the Group’s internal control, financial performance, compliance practices and resources allocation;

e) material acquisitions and disposal of assets;

f) convening of shareholders’ meetings;

g) corporate or financial restructuring;

h) share issuance, dividends and other returns to shareholders; and

i) interested person transaction.

To facilitate effective management and support to the Board in its duties, certain functions of the Board have been 

delegated to various Board Committees, namely Audit, Nominating and Remuneration Committees (collectively, “Board 

Committees”). The Board Committees function within clearly defined terms of references and operating procedures, which 

will be reviewed on a regular basis. The effectiveness of each Board Committees will also be constantly reviewed by the 

Board. In addition, in order to strengthen the independence of the Board, the Company has appointed Mr Foong Daw 

Ching as its Lead Independent Director. 

The Board meets on a regular basis and as and when necessary to address any specific significant matters that may arise. 

To ensure meetings are held regularly with maximum Directors’ participation, the Company’s Articles of Association allows 

for telephone and video-conferencing meetings.

Prior to their appointments, newly appointed Directors are provided with information on their duties as a director under the 

Singapore law. Directors are updated regularly on key accounting and regulatory changes. Where necessary, the Company 

arranges for presentations by external professionals, consultants and advisers on topics that would have an impact on the 

regulations, accounting standards and the implications of certain regulatory changes affecting the responsibilities of the 

Directors.
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Since the Company’s listing on the Catalist Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) on 

27 April 2012 until 30 September 2012, the number of Board and Board Committees’ meetings held, as well as the record 

of attendance of the Board members, where relevant, are as follows:

Name Board Audit 
Committee

Nominating
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Number of meetings held 1 2 1 1

Directors No. of Meetings Attended

Tan Hoe San 1 NA 1 NA

Fan Yi Ru 1 2 NA 1

Foong Daw Ching 1 2 1 1

Low Wai Cheong 1 2 1 1

NA: Not Applicable

Principle 2: Board Composition and Balance

The Board of Directors comprises the following members:

1. Tan Hoe San Executive Chairman and Managing Director

2. Fan Yi Ru Non-Executive Director

3. Foong Daw Ching Lead Independent Director

4. Low Wai Cheong Independent Director 

Currently, the Board comprises four (4) Directors, two (2) of whom are Independent Directors. The current number of 

Independent Directors of the Company has fulfilled the Code’s requirement that at least one-third of the Board should 

comprise Independent Directors. 

The Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary core 

competencies for effective functioning and informed decision-making. Key information regarding the Directors is disclosed 

in the “Board of Directors” section, page 14 of this Annual Report.

Given the nature and scope of the Company’s operations and the diversified background and experience of the Directors, 

the Board considers the present board size appropriate to facilitate effective decision-making and that no individual or small 

group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision making process. The NC is also of the view that the current Board 

comprises persons who as a group provide capabilities required for the Board to be effective. 

Directors with no prior board experience had to undergo training programme with the Singapore Institute of Directors to 

develop the requisite individual skills, such as knowledge on the Companies Act (Chapter 50) of Singapore and SGX-

ST Listing Manual Section B: Rule of Catalist (“Catalist Rules”). They were given training appropriate to the level of their 

previous experience and were provided with extensive background information about the Group’s history and core values, 

its strategic direction and corporate governance practices as well as industry-specific knowledge. The Directors also had 

the opportunity to visit the Group’s operational facilities and meet with Management to gain a better understanding of the 

Group’s business operation. 

The Independent Directors have confirmed that they do not have any relationship with the Company, its related companies 

or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Directors’ independent 

business judgement in the best interest of the Company. 

On an annual basis and upon notification by an Independent Director of a change in circumstances, the Nominating 

Committee will review the independence of each Independent Director based on the criteria for independence defined in 

the Code and recommends to the Board as to whether the Director is to be considered independent. The Nominating 

Committee has reviewed and determined that the Independent Directors are independent. 
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Principle 3: Executive Chairman and Managing Director

The Group’s Executive Chairman, Mr Tan Hoe San, also assumes the role of the Managing Director (“MD”) as he is 

the founder of the Group. Mr Tan Hoe San oversees the day-to-day operations and leads the Management in setting 

strategies, objectives and missions, translates the Board’s decisions and plans into execution, leads the Board to ensure its 

effectiveness in all aspects of its role, ensures that the Board receives accurate, timely and clear information, encourages 

constructive relations among the Directors and their interactions with Management, and facilitates the effective contribution 

of the Non-Executive Directors.  

Although the Executive Chairman and MD is the same person, the Board is of the view that there are sufficient safeguards 

and checks to ensure that the decision making process by the Board is independent and based on collective decision 

without any individual or group of individuals exercising any considerable concentration of power or influence and there is 

accountability for good corporate governance. All the Board Committees are chaired by Independent Directors and half of 

the Board consists of Independent Directors. 

The Group’s Non-Executive and Independent Directors had been actively participating in discussions and decision making 

at Board and Board Committees level and also had open discussions with Management. 

In order to ensure good corporate governance practice and that there is no concentration of power and authority vested in 

one individual, the Company has appointed Mr Foong Daw Ching as the Group’s Lead Independent Director to whom any 

concerns about the Group from the shareholders may be conveyed to, when such concerns cannot be resolved through 

the normal channels of the Executive Chairman or the Chief Financial Officer, or where such contact is not possible or 

appropriate.

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

Principle 4: Board Membership
Principle 5: Board Performance

The Board has established a Nominating Committee (“NC”) which comprises three (3) members, a majority of whom are 

Independent Directors. The members of the NC are as follows:

1. Low Wai Cheong

(Chairman)
Independent Director 

2. Foong Daw Ching

(Member)
Lead Independent Director

3. Tan Hoe San

(Member)
Executive Chairman and Managing Director

The principal functions of the NC include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a) make recommendations to the Board on all board appointments, including re-nominations, having regard to 

the Director’s contribution and performance (for example, attendance, preparedness, participation and candour) 

including, if applicable, as an Independent Director;

(b) regularly review the Board’s structure, size and composition and make recommendations to the Board with regards 

to any adjustments that are deemed necessary; 

(c) responsible for assessing nominees or candidates for appointment or election to the Board, determining whether or 

not such nominee has the requisite qualifications and whether or not he/she is independent;

(d) make plans for succession, in particular for the Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer;



Annual Report 2012
Starland Holdings Limited

Corporate Governance Report

21

(e) determine annually the independency of a Director;

(f) make recommendations to the Board for the continuation (or not) in services of any Director who has reached the 

age of seventy years;

(g) recommend Directors who are retiring by rotation to be put forward for re-election;

(h) decide whether or not a Director, who has multiple Board representations on various companies, is able to and has 

been adequately carrying out his/her duties as Director, having regard to the competing time commitments that are 

faced when serving on multiple boards;

(i) recommend to the Board internal guidelines to address the competing time commitments faced by Directors who 

serve on multiple boards;

(j) review and approve any new employment of related persons and proposed terms of their employment; and

(k) decide the evaluation and propose objective performance criteria, subject to the approval by the Board in evaluating 

the Board performance.

The Directors’ appointment dates and their present and past three years’ directorship in other listed companies are as 

follows:

Name of 
Director Appointment

Date of initial 
appointment

Directorships in other listed companies
Current Past 3 Years

Tan Hoe San Executive Chairman 

and Managing Director

20 October 2011 – –

Fan Yi Ru Non-Executive Director 10 January 2012 – –

Foong Daw Ching Lead Independent 

Director

26 March 2012 (1) Medi–Flex Limited

(2) Travelite Holdings 

Ltd.

(3) Suntar Eco–City 

Limited

–

Low Wai Cheong Independent Director 26 March 2012 China Fibretech 

Limited

(1) Asia Environment 

Holdings Limited 

(2) Beauty China 

Holdings Limited

In identifying suitable candidates for new appointment of Director, the NC will tap on the Directors’ personal contacts and 

recommendations and/or through search companies. New Directors will be appointed by way of Board resolutions after 

the NC has reviewed and nominated them, taking into consideration the qualification and experience of each candidate, 

his/her ability to increase the effectiveness of the Board and to add value to the Group’s business in line with its strategic 

objectives. 

 

The NC recommends all appointment and retirement of Directors. At each Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), at least one-

third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less 

than one-third) are required to retire from office by rotation. All Directors are required to retire from office at least once in 

every three years. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election by the shareholders at the AGM. The Managing Director is 

not subject to the retirement by rotation and shall not be taken into account in determining the rotation of retirement of 

Directors.

The details of Directors who will retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM, namely Ms Fan Yi Ru, Mr Foong Daw Ching and 

Mr Low Wai Cheong are disclosed on page 15 of this Annual Report. The NC recommends to the Board that the retiring 

Directors be nominated for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. In making the recommendation, the NC has considered the 

Directors’ overall contributions and performance. Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions and 

making any recommendation and/or participating in respect of matters in which he has an interest.
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Mr Foong Daw Ching will upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the Audit Committee 

and a member of the Nominating and Remuneration Committees. He will be considered independent for the purposes of 

Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules. 

Mr Low Wai Cheong will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the Remuneration and 

Nominating Committees and a member of the Audit Committee. He will be considered independent for the purposes of 

Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.

Ms Fan Yi Ru will upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of Audit and Remuneration 

Committees. She will not be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.

All newly appointed Directors during the year will hold office only until the next AGM following his appointment and will be 

eligible for re-election but shall not be taken into account in determining the number of Directors who are retire by rotation 

at such meeting. In evaluating the Director’s contribution and performance for the purpose of re-nomination, factors such as 

attendance, preparedness, participation and candour are taken into consideration. 

The NC reviews and evaluates the performance of the Board as a whole, taking into consideration the attendance record at 

the meetings of the Board and the Board Committees and also the contribution of each Director to the effectiveness of the 

Board.

The evaluation of the Board is conducted annually. As part of the process, the Directors will complete appraisal forms which 

are collated by the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary will then present the results to the NC Chairman who will 

then present a report to the Board.

An individual assessment of each Director is also undertaken annually. The process of the assessment is through a 

self-assessment where each Director will complete appraisal forms which are collated by the Company Secretary. The 

Company Secretary will then present the results to the NC Chairman who will then present a report to the Board.

The NC has assessed the Board’s performance to-date and is of the view that the performance of the Board as a whole is 

satisfactory. The NC is satisfied that despite some of the Directors having board representations in other listed companies, 

the Directors are able to and have adequately carried out their duties as Directors of the Company. 

Principle 6: Access to Information

The Company’s Management provides the Board with periodic updates covering operational performance, financial results, 

market and business development and other important and relevant information.

The Company or the Board will seek the appropriate independent and professional advice as and when the Directors, 

whether as a group or individually, need independent professional advice. 

 

Together with Management of the Company, the Company Secretary ensures that the Company complies with the 

requirements of the Companies Act (Chapter 50) of Singapore and other rules and regulations that are applicable to the 

Company.



Annual Report 2012
Starland Holdings Limited

Corporate Governance Report

23

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee (“RC”) which comprises three (3) members, a majority of whom are 

Independent Directors. The members of the RC are as follows:

1. Low Wai Cheong 

(Chairman)
Independent Director 

2. Foong Daw Ching

(Member)
Lead Independent Director

3. Fan Yi Ru

(Member)
Non-Executive Director

The RC will recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for members of the Board, and determine specific 

remuneration packages for each Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officers (“CEO”) (or executive of equivalent 

rank). The recommendations of RC on remunerations of Directors will be submitted for endorsement by the entire Board. All 

aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, and benefits in 

kind shall be covered by the RC. 

In the case of service contracts, the RC will consider the compensation commitments of the Directors’ contract of service, if 

any, would entail in the event of early termination with a view to be fair and avoid rewarding poor performance.

However, the RC also will consider whether a Director should be eligible for benefit under other long-term incentive 

schemes (if any), which including share option or share schemes as may be implemented.

Each member of the RC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of his remuneration package.  

Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration

In setting the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors, the Company takes into consideration the remuneration 

and employment conditions and makes a comparative study of the packages of Executive Directors in comparable 

companies/industries as well as the Group’s relative performance.

The Company’s Executive Chairman and Managing Director, Mr Tan Hoe San (“Mr Tan”), is remunerated based on his 

service agreement with the Company as disclosed in the Company’s offer document dated 19 April 2012. The service 

agreement shall take effect from the date of listing which is on 27 April 2012 and shall continue for an initial period of five 

(5) years (the “Initial Term”). Upon the expiry of the Initial Term, the employment of Mr Tan may be extended for such further 

period on the terms and subject to the conditions agreed between Mr Tan and the Company unless otherwise terminated 

by either party giving out not less than six (6) months’ notice in writing or an amount equal to six (6) months’ salary in lieu of 

notice. During the initial terms, either party may only terminate the service agreement by giving the other party not less than 

six (6) months’ notice or an amount equal to six (6) months’ salary in lieu of notice.

Directors’ fees are set in accordance with the remuneration framework comprising basic fees and committee fees. These 

are subject to the approval of the Company’s Shareholders during the AGM. 
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Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

(i) The breakdown of remuneration of the Directors for the financial year ended 30 September 2012 are as follows:

Name 
Salary 

(%)
Bonus 

(%)
Directors’ 
Fee (%)

Others 
(%)

Total 
(%)

Directors 
Between S$250,000 and S$500,000
Tan Hoe San 78 8 – 14 100

Below S$250,000
Fan Yi Ru – – 100 – 100

Foong Daw Ching – – 100 – 100

Low Wai Cheong – – 100 – 100

(ii) The breakdown of the key executives’ remuneration for the financial year ended 30 September 2012 are as follows:

Name 
Salary 

(%)
Bonus 

(%)
Directors’
 Fee (%)

Others 
(%)

Total 
(%)

Key Executives 
Below S$250,000
Wee Liang Hiam (Note 1) 91 – – 9 100

Chua Wei Chye Lawrence (Note 2) 87 6 – 7 100

Zhong Ma Ming 100 – – – 100

Fu Zi Cong 100 – – – 100

Luo Deng Xiao 100 – – – 100

 Notes:

 1) Mr Wee Liang Hiam was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 1 August 2011 and Joint 

Company Secretary of the Company on 10 January 2012. He resigned as the Chief Financial Officer of the 

Company on 10 September 2012 and Joint Company Secretary of the Company on 11 June 2012.

 2) Mr Chua Wei Chye Lawrence was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer and Joint Company Secretary of 

the Company on 10 September 2012.

 

For the financial year ended 30 September 2012, none of the Directors’ immediate family members are employees of the 

Company or any of its principal subsidiaries and whose remuneration exceed $150,000 per annum. 

The Company has adopted a performance share plan known as the “Starland Performance Share Plan” (the “Plan”) which 

has been approved at the extraordinary general meeting held on 11 April 2012. The details of the Plan can be found in the 

offer document of the Company dated 19 April 2012. The objectives of the Plan are to:

(a) foster a culture of ownership within the Group which aligns the interests of employees and Directors with the 

interests of the shareholders;

(b) motivate participants of the Plan to achieve key financial and operational goals of the Group and/or their respective 

business units and encourage greater dedication and loyalty to the Group; and

(c) make total employee remuneration sufficiently competitive to recruit new employees and/or retain existing 

employees whose contributions are important to the long term growth and profitability of our Group. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principle 10: Accountability

In presenting the annual financial statements and announcements to the shareholders, it is the aim of the Board to provide 

the shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects. 

Management provides the Board with periodic updates covering operational performance, financial results, marketing and 

business development and other important and relevant information.

 

Other methods in which information is disseminated to shareholders are further disclosed under Principles 14 and 15 of this 

Annual Report.

Principle 11: Audit Committee

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three (3) members, a majority of whom are Independent and Non-Executive 

Directors. The members of the AC are as follows:

1. Foong Daw Ching

(Chairman)
Lead Independent Director 

2. Low Wai Cheong

(Member)
Independent Director

3. Fan Yi Ru

(Member)
Non-Executive Director 

The AC meets periodically to perform the following functions:

(a) review with the external auditors the audit plans, their evaluation of the system of internal controls, their audit report, 

their management letter and the Management’s response;

(b) review annually the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness as well as the independence and 

objectivity of the external auditors, and to review the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the 

external auditors;

(c) meet with the external auditors and internal auditors without the presence of the Management, at least annually, to 

discuss any problems and concerns, if any;

(d) consider the appointment and re-appointment of the external auditors and matters relating to resignation and 

dismissal of the auditors;

(e) review and discuss with the external auditors any suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected infringement of any 

relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results or 

financial position, and the Management’s response;

(f) review with the internal auditors, the internal audit plans and their evaluation of the adequacy of the Group’s internal 

control and accounting system before submission of the results of such review to the Board for approval prior to the 

incorporation of such results in the Company’s annual report (where necessary);

(g) review the internal control and procedures and ensure co-ordination between the external auditors and the 

Management, and review the assistance given by the Management to the auditors, and discuss problems and 

concerns, if any, arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters which the auditors may wish to discuss (in 

the absence of the Management where necessary);

(h) review the scope and results of the internal audit procedures including the effectiveness of internal audit functions;
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(i) review the half yearly and annual, and quarterly if applicable, financial statements and results announcements before 

submission to the Board for approval, focusing in particular, on significant financial reporting issues and judgments, 

changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the audit, the 

going concern statement, compliance with accounting standards as well as compliance with any stock exchange 

and statutory/regulatory requirements;

(j) discuss problem and concerns, if any, arising from the quarterly, interim and final audits, in consultation with the 

external auditors and internal auditors where necessary;

(k) review any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial performance;

(l) investigate any matter within its terms of reference, with full access to and co-operation by Management and full 

discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings, and reasonable resources to enable it to 

discharge its functions properly;

(m) review and approve interested person transactions within the scope of the Catalist Rules and review procedures 

thereof;

(n) review arrangements by which the Company’s staff may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties 

in matters of financial reporting or other matters;

(o) report to the Board its findings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the Board 

Committees, which may include findings from internal audit reports and whistle blowing reports, if any; 

(p) review potential conflicts of interest (if any) and to set out a framework to resolve or mitigate any potential conflicts of 

interests;

(q) conduct periodic review of foreign exchange transactions and hedging policies (if any) undertaken by the Group;

(r) review the Group’s compliance with such functions and duties as may be required under the relevant statutes or the 

Catalist Rules, including such amendments made thereto from time to time;

(s) undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and report to the Board its findings 

from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the Committee;

(t) review at least annually the Group’s key financial risk areas, with a view to providing an independent oversights on 

the Group’s financial reporting, the outcome of such review to be disclosed in the annual reports or the findings are 

material, immediately announced via SGXNET;

(u) review and sight all resignation and authorization letters of the legal representatives of the Group’s subsidiaries in 

the People’s Republic of China which have been signed in advance and the letter shall be held in custody by the 

Company Secretary;

(v) review the effectiveness and adequacy of the Company’s administrative, operating, internal accounting and financial 

control procedures; and

(w) generally to undertake such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Catalist Rules, and by 

such amendments made thereto from time to time.

Apart from the duties listed above, the AC shall commission and review the findings of internal investigations into matters 

where there is any suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement of any Singapore law, rule or 

regulation which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results and/or financial position. Each 

member of the AC will abstain from voting in respect of matters in which he is interested. 
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The AC has reviewed the independence of the external auditors including the volume of non-audit services supplied by 

them and is satisfied that the nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of 

the external auditor. The AC has recommended the re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as external auditors of the 

Company at the forthcoming AGM. 

The breakdown of audit and non-audit services fees to the Group during the FY2012 are as follows: :

Professional fees rendered for Initial Public Offering S$350,000

Audit fees for FY2012 S$150,000

Total fees: S$500,000

The external auditors have unrestricted access to the AC. 

In re-appointing the external auditors of the Group, the Company confirms that it has complied with Rules 712 and 715 of 

the Catalist Rules. 

Principle 12: Internal Controls

Based on the internal control established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal and external 

auditors, and reviews performed by Management, the various Board Committees and the Board, the AC and the Board are 

of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls, addressing financial, operational and compliance risks, were adequate as 

at 30 September 2012.

The management regularly reviews the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business 

risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks within the Group’s policies and strategies.

Nonetheless, the Board recognises the importance of establishing a formal Enterprise Risk Management Framework to 

facilitate the governance of risks and monitoring the effectiveness of internal controls.  Accordingly, to facilitate the 

compliance of Catalist Rule 1204(10) of the Catalist Rules, the Board intends to engage an external consultant to set up an 

Enterprise Risk Management Framework in the financial year ending 30 September 2013.

The Company has in place a whistle-blowing policy which provides well-defined and accessible channels in the Group 

through which employees may raise concerns about improper conduct within the Group.

Principle 13: Internal Audit

In accordance with the AC’s recommendation, the Company has appointed Yang Lee & Associates as the Internal 

Auditor (“IA”) to determine whether the Group’s risk management, control and governance processes, as designed by the 

Company, is adequate and functioning in the required manner.  

The AC will meet the IA at least once a year without the presence of Management.

The AC will review and approve the internal audit plan on an annual basis and ensures that the internal audit function is 

adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company. 

The AC has reviewed the internal audit plan and the IA’s evaluation of the Group’s system of internals controls, their audit 

findings and the Management’s response to those findings. The AC is satisfied that the internal audit function is adequately 

resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group. 
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Communications with Shareholders
Principle 15: Greater Shareholder Participation

The Company does not practise selective disclosure. Shareholders, investors and analysts are kept informed of the major 

developments of the Company on a timely basis through various means of communication as follows:

 Announcements to the SGX-ST including price sensitive information, significant transactions or matters; 

 Annual reports and notice of AGM issued to all shareholders; and

 Company’s AGMs.

At the Company’s AGMs, shareholders are given the opportunity to voice their views and ask Directors or Management 

questions regarding the Company. In addition to Board Committees, the external auditors are also present at the AGM to 

assist the Directors to address shareholders’ queries about the conduct of audit and the preparation and contents of the 

auditors’ report.

The Company’s Articles of Association allow a shareholder of the Company to appoint one or two proxies to attend and 

vote on behalf of the shareholder.

At an AGM, separate resolutions are set out on distinct issues, such as proposed Directors’ fees, for approval by 

shareholders. Besides the members of the Board, the external auditors and the chairmen of all Board Committees are also 

present and available to address queries from shareholders.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS (“IPT”)

The AC is satisfied that the review procedures for IPTs and the reviews to be made periodically by the AC in relation thereto 

are adequate to ensure that the IPTs will be transacted on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the 

interests of the Company and its minority shareholders. 

There were no IPTs for the financial year ended 30 September 2012 pursuant to Rule 907 of the Catalist Rules. 

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

In line with Rule 1204(19) of the Catalist Rules on dealing in securities, the Company has in place a policy prohibiting share 

dealings by Directors and employees of the Group during the period commencing one month before the announcement 

of the Company’s half-year and full-year financial statements, as the case may be, and ending on the date of the 

announcement of the relevant results. In addition, the Directors and employees of the Group are discouraged from dealing 

in the Company’s shares on short-term considerations. This has been made known to Directors, officers and staff of the 

Company and the Group. They are also reminded to observe the insider trading laws at all times even when dealing in 

securities within permitted trading periods.

MATERIAL CONTRACT

Saved as disclosed in page 183 of the Company’s offer document dated 19 April 2012, there were no material contracts 

of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interests of the MD or any Director or controlling shareholder, either still 

subsisting at the end of FY2012 or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year. 
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RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCESSES 

The Management regularly review the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business 

risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks within the Group’s policies and strategies. The 

Board intends to set up an Enterprise Risk Management Framework in the financial year ending 30 September 2013.

UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS 

The details of the utilisation of the initial public offering’s (“IPO”) proceeds are shown below:

Descriptions 

Proceeds 
raised

(S$’000)

Amount 
utilised as at 
30 September 

2013
(S$’000)

Amount 
Unutilised 
as at 30 

September 
2013

(S$’000)
Acquisition of land 2,000 – 2,000

General working capital

 - Payment of operating expenses and salaries 

1,104

390 714

Total  3,104 390 2,714

NON-SPONSORSHIP FEES 

Non-sponsor services (as sponsor to the Company’s IPO) were rendered by the Company’s Sponsor, PrimePartners 

Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd., to the Group and their related fees for the financial year ended 30 September 2012 amounted 

to S$1,095,990.
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Report of the Directors

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the group and statement 

of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the company for the financial year ended September 30, 

2012.  The financial year of the company covers the period from October 20, 2011 (date of incorporation) to September 30, 

2012.

1 DIRECTORS

 The directors of the company in office at the date of this report are:

 Tan Hoe San (Appointed on October 20, 2011)

 Fan Yi Ru (Appointed on January 10, 2012)

 Foong Daw Ching (Appointed on March 26, 2012)

 Low Wai Cheong (Appointed on March 26, 2012)

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION 
OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement 

whose object is to enable the directors of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or 

debentures in the company or any other body corporate.

3 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 The directors of the company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital and 

debentures of the company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by 

the company under section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows:

Name of directors and companies in
which interests are held

Shareholdings
registered in the
name of director

Shareholdings in which 
directors are deemed to 

have an interest
At date of 

appointment
At end
of year

At date of 
appointment

At end
of year

Starland Holdings Limited (Ordinary shares)
Tan Hoe San (1) – – 100 96,000,000

Fan Yi Ru (1) – – 100 96,000,000

Super Vantage Investment Limited (The ultimate 
holding company) (2) Ordinary shares of US$1 each
Tan Hoe San 1 1 – –

 (1) Tan Hoe San and Fan Yi Ru are husband and wife and are deemed to be interested in each other’s shareholdings held in the company 

via Super Vantage Investment Limited and Able Lead International Limited respectively.  Able Lead International Limited is an investment 

company incorporated in the BVI and is wholly-owned by Fan Yi Ru.  Fan Yi Ru is deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Able Lead 

International Limited.  At September 30, 2012, Able Lead International Limited held 9.95% interest in the ordinary shares of the company.

 (2) Super Vantage Investment Limited is an investment company incorporated in the BVI and is wholly-owned by Tan Hoe San.  Tan Hoe San 

is deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Super Vantage Investment Limited.  At September 30, 2012, Super Vantage Investment 

Limited held 56.38% interest in the ordinary shares of the company.

 By virtue of section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Tan Hoe San and Fan Yi Ru are deemed to have an interest 

in the company and all the related corporations of the company.

 The directors’ interests in the shares of the company at October 21, 2012 were the same as September 30, 2012.
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4 DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

 Since the date of incorporation, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is required to 

be disclosed under section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by the company 

or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he 

has a substantial financial interest except for salaries, bonuses and other benefits as disclosed in these financial 

statements.

5 SHARE OPTIONS

 (a) Options to take up unissued shares

  During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the 

group were granted.

 (b) Options exercised

  During the financial year, there were no shares of the company or any corporation in the group issued by 

virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

 (c) Unissued shares under option

  At the end of financial year, there were no unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the group 

under option.

6 AUDIT COMMITTEE

 The members of the Audit Committee are:

  Foong Daw Ching (Chairman and lead independent director)

  Low Wai Cheong  (Independent director)

  Fan Yi Ru   (Non-executive director)

 The Audit Committee reviewed the following, where relevant, with the executive director, and external and internal 

auditors of the company:

 (a) the audit plans and results of the internal auditors’ examination and evaluation of the group’s systems of 

internal accounting controls;

 (b) the group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;

 (c) the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position and statement 

of changes in equity of the company before their submission to the directors of the company and external 

auditors’ report on those financial statements;

 (d) the half-yearly and annual announcements on the results and financial position of the company and the 

group;

 (e) the co-operation and assistance given by management to the group’s external and internal auditors; and

 (f) the re-appointment of the external auditors of the company.
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6 AUDIT COMMITTEE (Cont’d)

 The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of management and has been given the resources 

required for it to discharge its functions properly. It also has full discretion to invite any director or executive officer to 

attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee. 

 The Audit Committee has recommended to the directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for re-

appointment as external auditors of the company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the company.

7 AUDITORS

 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Tan Hoe San

Fan Yi Ru

December 14, 2012
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In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position 

and statement of changes in equity of the company as set out on pages 35 to 65 are drawn up so as to give a true and 

fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at September 30, 2012, and of the results, changes in 

equity and cash flows of the group for the financial year then ended and changes in equity of the company for the financial 

period from October 20, 2011 (date of incorporation) to September 30, 2012 and at the date of this statement, there are 

reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Tan Hoe San

Fan Yi Ru

December 14, 2012
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Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Starland Holdings Limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “group”) which comprise the statements of financial position of the group and the company as at September 30, 2012, 
and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the group for 
the year then ended and the statement of changes in equity of the company for the financial period from October 20, 2011 
(date of incorporation) to September 30, 2012, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes, as set out on pages 35 to 65.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and for devising and 
maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded 
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain 
accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the  financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.   An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position and statement 
of changes in equity of the company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at 
September 30, 2012 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the group for the financial year then ended and 
changes in equity of the company for the financial period from October 20, 2011 (date of incorporation) to September 30, 
2012.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the company have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore

Seah Gek Choo
Partner

December 14, 2012
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See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Group Company
Note 2012 2011 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 38,969 11,680 14,724

Other receivables and deposits 7 2,653 1,205 2,181

Properties held for sale 8 22,295 39,942 –   

Development properties 9 124,516   92,544       –   

Total current assets 188,433 145,371 16,905

Non-current assets
Equipment 10 530 1,164 58

Subsidiaries 11 –     –   638

Deferred tax assets 12       498          275                   –   

Total non-current assets      1,028    1,439      696

Total assets 189,461 146,810 17,601

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade payables 13 7,554 1,435 –   

Other payables and accruals 14 16,622 1,662 3,125

Advances from shareholders 15 – 804 –   

Income tax payable 39,263   36,344       –   

Total current liabilities 63,439   40,245   3,125

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities 12 1,538       876       –   

Capital and reserves
Share capital 16 24,471 642 24,471

Capital reserve 17 99,027 99,027 –   

Merger reserve 18 628 –   628

Translation reserve 620                               – 590

(Accumulated losses) Retained earnings      (262)    6,020 (11,213)

Total equity 124,484 105,689   14,476

Total liabilities and equity 189,461 146,810 17,601
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See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Group
Note 2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 19 36,075 77,702

Cost of sales (18,395) (57,236)

Gross profit 17,680 20,466

Other operating income 20 254 41

Selling expenses (750) (339)

Administrative expenses (15,887)  (3,450)

Other operating expenses 21     (245)     (89)

Profit before tax 1,052 16,629

Income tax expense 22   (7,334)  (7,284)

(Loss) Profit for the year 23   (6,282)   9,345

Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences arising from translation to  presentation currency      620       –   

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year  (5,662)   9,345

Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share (RMB fen) 24  (4.34)    7.79



Annual Report 2012
Starland Holdings Limited

Statements of Changes in Equity
Year ended September 30, 2012

37

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Share
capital

Capital
reserve

Merger
reserve

Translation
reserve

(Accumulated
losses)

Retained
earnings    Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
Balance at October 1, 2010 16,500 –    –       – (3,325) 13,175

Issue of shares (Note 16) 642 –    –        – –    642

Arising from restructuring (Notes 16 and 17) (16,500) 99,027 –      – –    82,527

Total comprehensive income for the year      –        –         –              –     9,345             9,345

Balance at September 30, 2011 642 99,027 –          – 6,020 105,689

Arising from restructuring (Notes 16 and 17) (642)  –    628 – –       (14)

Issue of shares (Note 16) 27,207 –    – – –  27,207

Share issue expenses taken to equity (Note 23) (2,736) –    – – –  (2,736)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year      –         –          –         620     (6,282)      (5,662)

Balance at September 30, 2012 24,471 99,027      628   620   (262)  124,484

Share
capital

Merger
reserve

Translation
reserve

Accumulated
losses    Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Company
At date of incorporation on October 20, 2011 1 1

Arising from restructuring (Notes 16 and 18)      – 628 – –    628

Issue of shares (Note 16) 27,206    – – –    27,206

Share issue expenses taken to equity (Note 23)   (2,736)    – – –  (2,736)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year      –        –          590 (11,213)        (10,623)

Balance at September 30, 2012 24,471 628     590 (11,213)   14,476
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Group
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Operating activities
Profit before tax 1,052 16,629

Adjustments for:

Loss on disposal of equipment 175      –  

Depreciation of equipment 256 443

Interest income      (228)      (41)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 1,255 17,031

Properties held for sale 17,647 (39,942)

Development properties (31,972) 61,490

Other receivables and deposits (1,448) 573

Trade payables 6,119 541

Other payables and accruals   14,960 (53,769)

Cash from (used in) operations 6,561 (14,076)

Interest received 228 41

Income tax (paid) refund     (3,976)   2,054

Net cash from (used in) operating activities    2,813 (11,981)

Investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of equipment                                                                     586 –

Purchase of equipment      (383)      (82)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities 203   (82)

Financing activities
Proceeds from shareholders 6,755 14,312

Repayment to shareholders (7,559) (1,570)

Pledged bank deposits – 1,310

Payment of listing expenses from issuance of shares (2,736)        –   

Proceeds from issuing of new ordinary shares    27,207        642

Net cash from financing activities    23,667 14,694

Net increase in cash and bank balances 26,683 2,631

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 11,680   9,049

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes      606       –   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 38,969 11,680
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1 GENERAL

 The company (Registration No. 201131382E) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore on October 20, 2011 

with its registered office at 80 Robinson Road, #02-00, Singapore 068898 and principal places of business at 20 

Upper Circular Road, #01-17 The Riverwalk, Singapore 058416 and University Town, 89 Julong Avenue, Block 7, 

1st Floor, Lidu, Fuling District, Chongqing Municipality, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) 408100.  The financial 

statements are expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”).  The company is listed on Catalist, the sponsor-supervised board of 

the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.  

 The principal activity of the company is that of an investment holding company.

 The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 11 to the financial statements.

 The consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position of the company for the 

financial year ended September 30, 2012 and the statement of changes in equity of the company for the financial 

period from October 20, 2011 (date of incorporation) to September 30, 2012 were authorised for issue by the Board 

of Directors on December 14, 2012.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost 

basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of 

the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS – In the current financial year, the group has adopted all the new 

and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after October 1, 2011.  The adoption of these new / revised FRSs and INT FRSs does 

not result in changes to the group’s and company’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts 

reported for the current or prior years. 

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new/revised FRSs, INT FRSs and 

amendments to FRS that are relevant to the group and the company were issued but not effective:

 • Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments relating to Presentation of Items 

of Other Comprehensive Income

 • FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements

 • FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

 • FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

 • Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

- Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

 • Annual Improvements to FRS 2012

 Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new / revised standards.

 FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements and FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements

 FRS 110 replaces the control assessment criteria and consolidation requirements currently in FRS 27 and INT FRS 

12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities.

 FRS 110 defines the principle of control and establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are 

consolidated in the consolidated financial statements.    It also provides more extensive application guidance on 

assessing control based on voting rights or other contractual rights.   Under FRS 110, control assessment will be 

based on whether an investor has (i) power over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the 

returns.  FRS 27 remains as a standard applicable only to separate financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements and FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements (Cont’d)

  FRS 110 will take effect from financial year beginning on or after January 1, 2014, with full retrospective application.

 The group is currently estimating the effects of FRS 110 in the period of initial application.

 Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments relating to Presentation of 
Items of Other Comprehensive Income

 The amendment on Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) presentation will require the group to present in separate 

groupings, OCI items that might be recycled, i.e. reclassified to profit or loss (e.g. those arising from cash flow 

hedging, foreign currency translation) and those items that would not be recycled (e.g. revaluation gains on property, 

plant and equipment under the revaluation model).  The tax effects recognised for the OCI items would also be 

captured in the respective grouping, although there is a choice to present OCI items before tax or net of tax.

 Changes arising from these amendments to FRS 1 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after July 1, 

2012, with full retrospective application.

 When the entity adopts the amendments, it will have to present revaluation gains on property, plant and equipment 

and the corresponding tax effects separately from other OCI items that might be recycled to profit or loss.

 The group is currently estimating the effects of FRS 1 in the period of initial application.

 FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

 FRS 112 requires an entity to provide more extensive disclosures regarding the nature of and risks associated with 

its interest in subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities.

 FRS 112 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2014, and the group is currently 

estimating extent of additional disclosures needed.

 FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

 FRS 113 is a single new Standard that applies to both financial and non-financial items.  It replaces the guidance on 

fair value measurement and related disclosures in other Standards, with the exception of measurement dealt with 

under FRS 102 Share-based Payment, FRS 17 Leases, net realisable value in FRS 2 Inventories and value-in-use in 

FRS 36 Impairment of Assets.

 FRS 113 provides a common fair value definition and hierarchy applicable to the fair value measurement of assets, 

liabilities, and an entity’s own entity instruments within its scope, but does not change the requirements in other 

Standards regarding which items should be measured or disclosed at fair value.

 FRS 113 will be effective prospectively from annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  Comparative 

information is not required for periods before initial application.

 The group is currently estimating the effects of FRS 113 in the period of initial application.

 Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation FRS 107 Financial Instruments:  Disclosures 
- Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

 The amendment to FRS 32 clarifies the criteria on offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities.  When the entity 

adopts the FRS 32 amendments financial assets and liabilities that are currently offset may not qualify for offset 

under the clarified criteria.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation FRS 107 Financial Instruments:  Disclosures 
- Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Cont’d)

 FRS 107 was also amended to require disclosures on information that will enable users of an group’s financial 

statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated 

with the group’s recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the group’s financial position.

 The amendments to FRS 32 will take effect for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.  The 

amendments to FRS 107 will take effect for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and interim 

periods within those annual periods.  Both amendments are to be applied retrospectively.

 Annual Improvements to FRS 2012

 The Annual Improvements include a number of amendments to various FRSs.  The amendments are effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  The amendments are:

 • Amendments to FRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; and

 • Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

 Amendments to FRS 16 clarify that spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing equipment should be classified 

as property, plant and equipment when they meet the definition of property, plant and equipment in FRS 16 and as 

inventory if otherwise.  Management does not anticipate that the amendment to FRS 16 will have a significant effect 

on the financial statements.

 Amendments to FRS 32 clarify that income tax relating to distributions to holders of an equity instrument and to 

transaction costs of an equity transaction should be accounted for in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes.  

Management anticipates that the amendments will have no effect on the financial statements as the group has 

already adopted this treatment.

 Management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRS, INT FRS and amendments to FRS in future periods 

will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the group and of the company in the period of their 

initial adoption.

 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION FROM OCTOBER 1, 2011 - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 

financial statements of the company and entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the company (its 

subsidiaries).  Control is achieved where the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 

of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

 The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

 Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 

in line with those used by other members of the group.

 All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

 In the company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment in net 

recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS FROM OCTOBER 1, 2011 – Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted 

for using the acquisition method.  The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the 

acquisition date fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred by the group to the former owners of the acquiree, 

and equity interests issued by the group in exchange for control of the acquiree.  Acquisition-related costs are 

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS PRIOR TO OCTOBER 1, 2011 – The combined financial statements incorporate 

the financial statements of the entities within the group and had been prepared using the principles of merger 

accounting and on the assumption that the re-organisation of entities controlled by the same shareholders has been 

effected as at the beginning of the periods presented in the combined financial statements.

 All significant intercompany transactions and balances between group enterprises are eliminated on combination.

 

 The acquisition of subsidiaries, other than those involving entities under common control, is accounted for using 

the purchase method.  The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of 

exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the group in exchange 

for control of the acquire, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination.  The acquiree’s identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under FRS 103 Business 

Combinations are recognised at fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal 

groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sales and 

Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the group’s statement of 

financial position when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 Effective interest method

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating 

interest income or expense over the relevant period.    The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part 

of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 

financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period.    Income and expense is recognised on an effective 

interest rate basis for debt instruments.

 Financial assets

 Cash and cash equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and are 

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

 Loans and receivables - Other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market are classified as “loans and receivables”.  Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method less impairment.  Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest method, except 

for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest is immaterial.

 Impairment of financial assets

 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.    Financial assets 

are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 

recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 

rate. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with 

the exception of receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  When 

a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 

previously written off are credited against the allowance account.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 

account are recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Financial assets (Cont’d)

 Derecognition of financial assets

 The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 

or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 

entity.    If the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 

to control the transferred asset, the group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 

amounts it may have to pay.  If the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 

financial asset, the group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 

for the proceeds received.

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

 Classification as debt or equity

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the group are classified according to the substance of the 

contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

 Equity instruments

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all 

of its liabilities.  Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

 Financial liabilities

 Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective 

yield basis except for short-term payables when the recognition of interest is immaterial.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities

 The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 

or they expire.

 LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

 The group as lessor

 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless 

another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased 

asset is diminished.

 The group as lessee

 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 

from the leased asset are consumed.    Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an 

expense in the period in which they are incurred.

 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 

liability.   The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, 

except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 

the leased asset are consumed.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE – Properties under development for sale are stated at lower 

of cost or estimated net realisable value.  Net realisable value takes into account the price ultimately expected to 

be realised and the anticipated costs to completion.  Cost of property under development comprises land cost, 

development costs and borrowing costs capitalised during the development period.  When completed, the units 

held for sale are classified as completed properties held for sale.

 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE - Completed properties held for sale are stated at lower of cost or net realisable 

value.  Cost is determined by apportionment of the total land cost, development costs and borrowing costs 

capitalised to the unsold properties with such apportionment based on floor area.

 Net realisable value is determined by reference to sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of business 

less all estimated selling expenses; or estimated by management in the absence of comparable transactions taking 

into consideration prevailing market conditions.

 EQUIPMENT - Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

 Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of equipment, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-

line method, on the following bases:

 Furniture, fixtures and equipment - 5 years

 Motor vehicles - 5 years

 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 

period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

 Fully depreciated equipment still in use are retained in the financial statements.

 The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of equipment is determined as the difference between the 

sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

 IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS - At the end of each reporting period, the group reviews the carrying amounts 

of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 

loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 

of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 

group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 

the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 

asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or 

loss.

 PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 

of a past event, it is probable that the group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 

made of the amount of the obligation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 

obligation.    Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 

carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

 When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 

party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 

amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

 REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

 Sale of development properties

 Revenue from sale of properties is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties 

are transferred to the buyers.  Payments received from buyers prior to this stage are recorded as advances from 

customers for sales of properties and are classified as current liabilities.

 Rental income

 Rental income from properties held for sale is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

 Rendering of services

 Property management fee income and service income are recognised over the period when services are rendered.

 Interest income

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 

applicable.

 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an 

expense when employees have rendered their services entitling them to the contributions.  Payments made to state-

managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to 

defined contribution plans where the group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined 

contribution retirement benefit plan.

 Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) government, the PRC subsidiaries 

of the group (“PRC Subsidiaries”) have participated in central pension schemes (“the Schemes”) operated by local 

municipal governments whereby the PRC Subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of the basic 

salaries of their employees to the Schemes to fund their retirement benefits. The local municipal governments 

undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired employees of the PRC 

Subsidiaries. The only obligation of the PRC Subsidiaries with respect to the Schemes is to pay the ongoing 

required contributions under the Schemes mentioned above.  Contributions under the Schemes are charged as 

expense when incurred.

 INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 

statements of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 

in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible.  The group’s liability for current tax 

is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the 

company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

 Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 

statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for 

using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 

differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 

available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not 

recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 

combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting 

profit.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except 

where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 

recovered.

 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 

asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 

the reporting period.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 

group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to items 

credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case 

the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), or where 

they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination.  In the case of a business combination, the tax 

effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair 

value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of each group 

entity are measured in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional 

currency). The consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position of the company 

are presented in Renminbi, which is the presentation currency of the group.  The functional currency of the company 

is Singapore dollars.

 In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 

functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of 

each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing 

at the end of each reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 

currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary 

items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are 

included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 

carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of 

non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised other comprehensive income. For such 

non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive 

income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

 For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the company are 

expressed in Renminbi using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense 

items (including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates 

fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are 

used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a 

separate component of equity under the header of translation reserve.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

 In the application of the group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to 

make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 

and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 

the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies

 The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that management has 

made in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the 

amounts recognised in the financial statements.

 Functional currency

 FRS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates requires the company and the entities in the group to 

determine its functional currency to prepare the financial statements.  When determining its functional currency, the 

company and the entities in the group consider the primary economic environment in which it operates i.e. the one 

in which it primarily generates and expends cash.  The company and the entities in the group may also consider the 

funds from financing activities are generated.  Management applied its judgement and determined that the functional 

currency of the company is Singapore dollars on the basis that its funding is denominated in Singapore dollars and it 

expects its transactions to be in Singapore dollars.

 Taxation

 The group has exposure to income taxes in a few jurisdictions. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current 

and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, 

based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 

period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the group 

operates.  Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, 

such differences will impact the income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

As at September 30, 2012, the carrying amount of the group’s income tax payable is RMB39,263,000 (2011 : 

RMB36,344,000).

 The group accounts for income taxes under the provisions of FRS 12 Income Taxes. As at September 30, 2012, 

the group has recorded deferred tax assets of RMB498,000 (2011 : RMB275,000) and deferred tax liabilities of 

RMB1,538,000 (2011 : RMB876,000).
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

 Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

 The group is subject to LAT in the PRC which has been included in income tax of the group.  The PRC LAT is 
levied at progressive rates ranging on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less 
deductible expenditures including sales charges, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures in 
accordance with the PRC tax laws and regulations.

 The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by the tax authorities upon the completion of the property 
development projects.  However, the group has not finalised its land appreciation tax returns with the tax authorities.  
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes.  
The ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.  The group recognises these 
liabilities based on management’s best estimates.  Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred income tax provisions 
in the period in which such determination is made.

 The group has recognised LAT of RMB4,020,000 for the year ended September 30, 2012 (2011 : RMB2,907,000).  
Management considers the provision of LAT to be adequate.

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 There are key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

 Carrying amounts of properties held for sale and development properties

 As at September 30, 2012, the aggregate carrying amount of properties held for sale and development properties 
totaled RMB146,811,000 (2011 : RMB132,486,000), details of which are disclosed in Notes 8 and 9.  They are 
stated at cost less allowance for impairment in value, assessed on an individual project basis.

 When it is probable that the total project costs will exceed the total projected revenue net of selling expenses, ie. net 
realisable value, the amount in excess of net realisable value is recognised as an expense immediately.

 The process of evaluating the net realisable value for each property is subject to management’s judgement and 
the effect of assumptions in respect of development plans, timing of sale and the prevailing market conditions.  
Management performs cost studies for each project, taking into account the costs incurred to date, the 
development status and costs to complete each development project. Any future variation in plans, assumptions 
and estimates can potentially impact the carrying amounts of the respective properties.

 Recoverability of other receivables

 Management regularly reviews other receivables and estimates the ultimate realisable amounts for each receivable 
based on the creditworthiness and the past collection history of each debtor. Management is of the view that the 
carrying amounts of the other receivables as disclosed in Note 7 are not impaired and recoverable.

 Depreciation of equipment

 The cost of equipment is determined on a straight line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives as set out 
in Note 2 to the financial statements. Changes in the expected level and future usage can impact the economic 
useful lives of these assets with consequential impact on the future depreciation charge. The carrying amounts of 
equipment are stated in Note 10 to the financial statements.

 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries

 Determining whether investments in subsidiaries are impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of 
the investment in subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period.  Management has estimated the recoverable 
amount based on the fair value less cost to sell and is satisfied that the recoverable amounts are higher than 
the carrying value of the subsidiaries.  The fair value less cost to sell is determined by reference to the estimated 
realisable values of the net tangible assets of the subsidiaries.  The carrying amounts of the company’s investments 
in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 11.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

 (a) Categories of financial instruments

  The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

Group Company
2012 2011 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 41,177 12,000 16,905

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 18,924   2,863   3,125

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives

  Management of the group monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the group to 

ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective manner. These risks include market 

risk (foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

  The group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

  There has been no change to the group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it 

manages and measures the risk.

  (i) Foreign exchange risk management

   The group transacts business in various foreign currencies, including the United States dollar and 

Singapore dollar and therefore is exposed to foreign exchange risk.  Foreign currencies received are 

kept in foreign currency accounts and are converted to the respective functional currencies of the 

group companies on an as-needed basis so as to minimise the foreign exchange exposure.

   The group does not enter into derivative foreign exchange contracts and foreign currency borrowings 

to hedge its foreign exchange risk.

   At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities 

denominated in currencies other than the company’s functional currency are as follows:

Group Company
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2012
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

United States dollars 5 6 –   –   –   –   

Singapore dollars 1,114 743 –   –   –   –   

Renminbi    –        –        –        12    –       2,178

 

   The sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk to key management personnel is 10%, 

which is the change in foreign exchange rate that management deems reasonably possible which will 

affect outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items at period end.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)
   

  (i) Foreign exchange risk management (Cont’d)

   If the Singapore dollar were to appreciate/depreciate by 10% against the Renminbi, the profit after tax 

for the year of the group will increase/decrease by approximately RMB111,000 (2011 : RMB74,000).

   No sensitivity analysis is presented for other foreign currencies as the impact of changes in these 

currencies is not expected to be material.

  (ii) Interest rate risk management

   The group is not exposed to interest rate risk as there are no significant interest-bearing liabilities or 

interest-bearing assets.

  (iii) Credit risk management

   Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations resulting 

in financial loss to the group. The group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 

counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk 

of financial loss from defaults. For sales of properties, sales proceeds are fully settled concurrent with 

delivery of properties.

   The group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group 

of counterparties having similar characteristics.

   The group’s maximum exposure to credit risk comprises the sum of the carrying amounts of financial 

assets recorded in the financial statements.

  (iv) Liquidity risk management

   On September 30, 2011, Tan Hoe San and Fan Yi Ru by way of a waiver agreement, waived their 

rights and control over the loan amount of RMB132,036,000 (Note 17) and irrevocably agreed that 

they shall have no right of repayment in respect of these loans.

   Under the PRC tax laws, the wavier has a potential tax impact of up to RMB33,009,000 

on the group.  As such, on January 10, 2012, Tan Hoe San and Fan Yi Ru executed a letter of 

undertaking pursuant to which they provided an undertaking to provide an interest-free loan of up to 

RMB33,009,000 to the group in the event that the group does not have sufficient funds to pay the 

income tax, or the group’s operation and cash flows are affected by such income tax payment.  The 

undertaking shall cease after the full income tax payable are settled.  This loan will be interest free, 

unsecured, with no fixed terms of repayment.

   The group maintains sufficient cash and bank balances. The financial liabilities and assets of the 

group are substantially non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand or within one year.

  (v) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

   The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, other current receivables and payables 

approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial 

instruments.



Annual Report 2012
Starland Holdings Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2012

51

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

 (c) Capital risk management policies and objectives

  The group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as a going concern 

while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

  The capital structure of the group consists of equity comprising issued capital and reserves as disclosed in 

the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the group.

  The group reviews the capital structure on an annual basis.  As a part of this review, the group considers 

the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The group’s overall strategy remains 

unchanged from prior year.

5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 The company is a subsidiary of Super Vantage Investment Limited, incorporated in British Virgin Islands, which is 

also the company’s ultimate holding company.  Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of 

the holding company’s group of companies.

 Compensation of directors and key management personnel

 The remuneration of directors and other members of key management are as follows:

Group
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term benefits    3,287      187

 During the year, group entities entered into the following transactions with related parties:

Group
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Repayment of advances to a related party –   500

Waiver of advances from shareholders (Note 17) –   99,027

Advances from shareholders 6,755 14,312

Repayment of advances to shareholders (7,559) (1,570)

Repayment of advances from a related party      –     (1,270)

 The related party pertains to companies which owned by a person who is close member of the company’s director.

6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
2012 2011 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash on hand 28 262 –

Cash at bank 38,941 11,418 14,724

Cash and cash equivalents 38,969 11,680 14,724
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6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont’d)

 As at September 30, 2012, the Group had cash and cash equivalents in RMB placed with banks in PRC amounting 

to RMB23,100,000 (2011: RMB11,237,000).  Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is currently subject to the 

Foreign Exchange Control Regulations in PRC.

 The cash and bank balances of the group and company that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the 

respective entities are as follows:

Group Company
2012 2011 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

United States dollars 5 6 –    

Singapore dollars   1,113     175       –    

7 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS

Group Company
2012 2011 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Other receivables from third parties 2,174 320 –   

Other receivables from subsidiaries (Note 11) –  –  2,148

Advances to suppliers 430 35 –   

Tax prepayment – 282 –   

Deposits 34 –  33 

Prepayments       15    568        –    

  2,653 1,205 2,181

 The group and the company’s other receivables are interest-free, repayable on demand and unsecured.  The 

group and the company have not made any allowance as management is of the view that these receivables are 

recoverable and not impaired.

 The aging of other receivables from third parties at the end of each reporting period are less than one year.

 The other receivables and deposits of the group and company that are not denominated in the functional currencies 

of the respective entities are as follows:

Group Company
2012 2011 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Singapore dollars      1    568       –    

8 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Group
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost 22,295 39,942

 The properties held for sale are located at Fuling District, Chongqing Municipality, the PRC.
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9 DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES
 

Group
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Land use rights 90,597 108,670

Construction costs    33,919   81,035

124,516 189,705

Less:  Transfer to properties held for sale      –         (97,161)

124,516   92,544

 The development properties are located at Fuling District, Chongqing Municipality, the PRC.

 Development properties are classified as current assets because they are expected to be realised in the normal 

operating cycle.

10 EQUIPMENT

Motor
vehicle

Furniture,
fixtures and 
equipment   Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

Cost:

 At October 1, 2010 1,681 172 1,853

 Additions       70   12       82

 At September 30, 2011 1,751 184 1,935

 Additions 257 126 383

 Disposals (1,483)    –  (1,483)

 At September 30, 2012       525 310     835

Accumulated depreciation:

 At October 1, 2010 249 79 328

 Depreciation for the year     384   59    443

 At September 30, 2011 633 138 771

 Depreciation for the year 201 55 256

 Eliminated on disposals      (722)    –    (722)

 At September 30, 2012      112 193    305

Carrying amount:

 At September 30, 2012    413 117    530

 At September 30, 2011 1,118   46 1,164
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10 EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment  
RMB’000

Company

Cost:

 Additions during the year and balance as at September 30, 2012 60

Accumulated depreciation:

 Depreciation during the year and balance as at September 30, 2012 2

Carrying amount:

   At September 30, 2012 58

11 SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2012

RMB’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 638

 Details of all subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Country of
incorporation/

registration
and operations

Attributable 
equity interest
of the group   Principal activity

%

Jumbo Equity Group Limited (1) British Virgin

Island

100 Investment holding

Subsidiary of Jumbo Equity Group Limited

Xiamen Starland Trading Limited

  (formerly known as Xiamen Yida Trading 

Limited) (2)

People’s 

Republic

of China

100 Wholesale, import and  export of 

chemical product, office  furniture 

and clothing; consultancy on 

the enterprise management and 

business information

Subsidiary of Xiamen Starland Trading Limited

Chongqing Starland Property Service

  Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Chongqing 

Gangyuan Tuowei Property Service Co., 

Ltd.) (2)

People’s

Republic

of China

100 Property management service
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11 SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiary

Country of        
incorporation

and operations

Attributable
equity interest
  of the group   Principal activity

%

Subsidiaries of Chongqing Starland Property Service Co., Ltd.

Chongqing Gangyuan Property

 Development Co., Ltd. (2)

PRC 100 Property development, marketing 

planning of property; sales of 

construction material, decoration 

material and low voltage electronic 

apparatus

Chongqing Tianhu Land Co., Ltd. (2) PRC 100 Property development, marketing 

planning of Property; sales of 

construction material, decoration 

material and low voltage electronic 

apparatus
       

 (1) Not required to be audited in the country of incorporation.  For purposes of consolidation, no audit is performed as the 

result of the subsidiary is not material.

 (2) Audited by other member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited for consolidation purposes.

12 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

Group
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax assets 498 275

Deferred tax liabilities (1,538) (876)

 The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the group and movements thereon 

during the current and prior reporting years:

Undistributed
retained 
profits Tax losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
At October 1, 2010 –  1,005 1,005

Charge to profit or loss for the year (Note 22)    (876)   (730) (1,606)

At September 30, 2011 (876) 275 (601)

Charge to profit or loss for the year (Note 22)    (662)     223    (439)

At September 30, 2012 (1,538)      498 (1,040)

 In accordance with the PRC tax circular (Guoshuihan [2008] 112) effective from January 1, 2008, PRC withholding 

income tax at the rate of 10% is applicable to dividends payable by the PRC subsidiaries based on their profits 

generated from January 1, 2008 onwards to its “non-resident” investors who do not have an establishment or place 

of business in the PRC.
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13 TRADE PAYABLES

 Included in trade payables is retention sum payable amounted to RMB727,000 as at September 30, 2012 (2011 : 

RMB1,089,000).

14 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Group Company
2012 2011 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Deposits from contractors 9,745 –  –  

Deposits from tenants 312 242 –  

Advance rental 236 64 –  

Advance receipt from the sale of properties 4,330 866 –  

Other payables due to third parties 8 161 –  

Other payables due to subsidiaries (Note 11) –  –  2,178

Other tax payable 686 108 –  

Accrued expenses   1,305    221      947

16,622 1,662    3,125

 The company’s other payables due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

 The group’s other payables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities are as 

follows:

Group Company
2012 2011 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Renminbi – 12  2,178 

15 ADVANCES FROM SHAREHOLDERS

 Advances from shareholders were unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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16 SHARE CAPITAL

Group
2012 2011 2012 2011

Number of
ordinary shares

’000 ’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Issued and paid up:

At beginning of year 1  16,500      642 16,500

Issue of shares – # 1 1    642

Adjustment arising from restructuring exercise (1) (16,500) (642) (16,500)

Shares issued pursuant to the restructuring exercise 120,000 – – * –  

Shares issued pursuant to the initial public offering 24,733 –  27,206     –  

Share issue expenses taken to equity           –     –       (2,736) –   

At end of year 144,733 1 24,471  642

Company 
2012 2012

Number of 
ordinary 
shares

’000 RMB’000

Issued and paid-up on October 20, 2011 (date of incorporation): – # 1

Shares issued pursuant to the restructuring exercise 120,000 – *

Shares issued pursuant to the initial public offering 24,733 27,206

Share issue expenses taken to equity –     (2,736)

At end of the year 144,733 24,471

 * Less than RMB1,000.

 # Less than 1,000 shares.

 The company was incorporated on October 20, 2011.  At the date of incorporation, the share capital of the 

company was S$100.  Accordingly, the share capital in the combined statements of financial position as at 

September 30, 2011 represented the paid-up capital of the subsidiary, Jumbo Equity Group Limited as at 

September 30, 2011.

 Pursuant to the Group restructuring (the “Restructuring Exercise”) on April 11, 2012, the company’s issued and paid 

up capital was increased to RMB1,000 comprising 120,000,000 ordinary shares.
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16 SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

 In preparation for the listing of the company, the company underwent a Restructuring Exercise involving the 

following:

 I. Incorporation of the company and its subsidiaries

  (a) The company was incorporated in Singapore on October 20, 2011 with an initial paid-up capital of 

S$100, comprising 100 shares held by Super Vantage Investment Limited (51%) (“Super Vantage”), a 

company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), and Able Lead International Limited (49%) 

(“Able Lead”), a company incorporated in the BVI.  Super Vantage is wholly owned by Tan Hoe San, 

the Executive Chairman of the company, and Able Lead is wholly owned by Fan Yi Ru, the non-

Executive Director of the company.

  (b) Jumbo Equity Group Limited (“Jumbo Equity”) was incorporated in the BVI on January 4, 2011 with 

an initial paid-up capital of US$1,000, comprising 1,000 shares held by Tan Hoe San (51%) and 

Fan Yi Ru (49%).  Before the Restructuring Exercise, Jumbo Equity was the holding company of the 

group’s subsidiaries in the PRC.

  (c) Xiamen Starland Trading Limited (“Xiamen Starland”), a wholly foreign owned enterprise (“WOFE”), 

was incorporated in the PRC on April 6, 2011 with an initial paid up capital of US$100,000.  The 

initial shareholder of Xiamen Starland was Ever Thrive International Limited (“Ever Thrive”), a company 

incorporated in the BVI, holding the entire 100% equity interest.  Ever Thrive is wholly owned by Tan 

Hoe San.

  (d) Chongqing Starland Property Service Co., Ltd. (“Chongqing Starland”) was incorporated in the 

PRC on January 4, 2010 with an initial paid up capital of RMB500,000.  The initial shareholders of 

Chongqing Starland were Chen Hai Yan and Chen You Wen holding 99% and 1% equity interest 

respectively.

  (e) Chongqing Tianhu Land Co., Ltd. (“Tianhu Land”) was incorporated in the PRC on September 17, 

2009 with an initial paid up capital of RMB8,000,000.  The initial shareholders of Tianhu Land were 

Chen Hai Yan and Chen You Wen holding 99.9% and 0.1% equity interest respectively. 

  (f) Chongqing Gangyuan Property Development Co., Ltd (“Gangyuan Property”) was incorporated in 

the PRC on July 22, 2008 with an initial paid up capital of RMB8,000,000.  The initial shareholder of 

Gangyuan Property was Chen Hai Yan, holding the entire 100% equity interest. 

 II. Trust Arrangements 

  As disclosed above, the initial shareholders of Chongqing Starland and Tianhu Land were Chen Hai Yan 

and Chen You Wen (the “Trustees”), whilst the initial shareholder of Gangyuan Property was Chen Hai Yan.  

Chongqing Starland, Tianhu Land and Gangyuan Property shall hereafter collectively be referred to as the 

“PRC Companies”. 

  Chen Hai Yan is the daughter-in-law and sister-in-law of Tan Sim Chew and Tan Hoe San respectively, and 

Chen You Wen is the brother of Chen Hai Yan. Tan Sim Chew is the father of Tan Hoe San and the father-in-

law of Fan Yi Ru.

  On April 17, 2011, the Trustees executed Letters of Confirmation pursuant to which they confirmed that 

they had held the entire equity interests in the PRC Companies (the “PRC Equity Stake”) on trust for Tan 

Sim Chew with effect from the respective dates of incorporation of the PRC Companies (the “Trust 

Arrangements”).  As part of the Trust Arrangements, the funds for the registered capital of the PRC 

Companies, and the advances and loans to the PRC Companies, were provided by Tan Sim Chew to the 

Trustees, who then in turn injected the capital, loans and advances into the PRC Companies.
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16 SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

 II. Trust Arrangements (Cont’d)

  On October 20, 2011, Tan Sim Chew, Tan Hoe San, and Fan Yi Ru executed the Deed of Confirmation, 

pursuant to which Tan Sim Chew confirmed that it was his intention from the respective dates of 

incorporation of the PRC Companies to transfer (and procure the Trustees to transfer) the PRC Equity Stake 

to Tan Hoe San and Fan Yi Ru and/or their designated nominee(s) as part of his succession planning.  In 

addition, Tan Hoe San and Fan Yi Ru shall be entitled to enjoy the full rights over the advances and loans 

previously provided by Tan Sim Chew to the PRC Companies.

  In addition, it was also the intention of Tan Sim Chew wherein he had agreed with Zhong Ma Ming and Fu 

Zi Cong that each of them shall own 10.0% equity interest of the PRC Companies in the event that the 

restructuring exercise for an initial public offering of the PRC Companies occurs. The aggregate 20.0% equity 

interests of the PRC Companies shall be held in trust by Fan Yi Ru on behalf of Zhong Ma Ming and Fu Zi 

Cong and be transferred to them should such event be triggered.

 III. Restructuring of the PRC Subsidiaries

  (a) In May 2011, the following steps were taken: 

   The entire equity interest of Chongqing Starland was transferred from the Trustees to Xiamen 

Starland for a consideration of RMB495,000 (for Chen Hai Yan) and RMB5,000 (for Chen You Wen) 

respectively, determined based on Chongqing Starland’s registered capital of RMB500,000.

   The entire equity interest of Tianhu Land was transferred from the Trustees to Chongqing Starland for 

a consideration of RMB7,992,000 (for Chen Hai Yan) and RMB8,000 (for Chen You Wen) respectively, 

determined based on  Chongqing Tianhu’s registered capital of RMB8 million.

   The entire equity interest of Gangyuan Property was transferred from Chen Hai Yan to Chongqing 

Starland for a consideration of RMB8 million, determined based on Gangyuan Property’s registered 

capital of RMB8 million.

   As a result of the aforementioned equity interests’ transfers, Xiamen Starland, a WOFE, became the 

holding company of the PRC Companies.

  (b) In August 2011, the entire equity interest of Xiamen Starland was transferred from Ever Thrive to 

Jumbo Equity for a cash consideration of US$100,000, determined based on Xiamen Starland’s 

registered capital of US$100,000.

   As a result of the aforementioned equity interest transfer, Tan Hoe San and Fan Yi Ru became the 

shareholders of the PRC Subsidiaries via Jumbo Equity.

 IV. Acquisition of Jumbo Equity by the company

  On October 20, 2011, the company acquired the entire equity interest in Jumbo Equity for the nominal 

consideration of S$1 from Tan Hoe San and Fan Yi Ru.  On October 22, 2011, the Company which was 

incorporated as the proposed listed company in Singapore, acquired the entire equity interest in Jumbo 

Equity for the nominal consideration of S$1 from Tan Hoe San and Fan Yi Ru.

 V. Transfer of equity interests in the company 

  On October 20, 2011, Fan Yi Ru executed the Trust Arrangement Letters pursuant to which she confirmed 

that with effect from the date of incorporation of Jumbo Equity, she held 20% of the equity interest in Jumbo 

Equity on trust for each of Zhong Ma Ming (10%), General Manager of the Group, and Fu Zi Cong (10%), 

Group Financial Controller, respectively.



Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2012

60

16 SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

 Upon sub-division and the allotment and issue of new shares during the initial public offering, amounting to 

RMB27,206,000 and after taking into account the share issue expenses of RMB2,736,000, the issued and paid up 

capital of the company was increased to RMB24,471,000 comprising 144,733,000 ordinary shares.

 Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and a right to dividends as and when 

declared by the company.

 On April 27, 2012, 24,733,000 ordinary shares were listed on Catalist, the sponsor-supervised board of the 

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

17 CAPITAL RESERVE

 Arising from the restructuring exercise, advances from shareholders amounted to RMB132,036,000 less tax of 

RMB33,009,000 were waived by the shareholders.

18 MERGER RESERVE

 Arising from the restructuring exercise, the merger reserve is the difference between the nominal amount of the 

share capital of the subsidiaries at the date on which the subsidiaries were acquired by the company and the 

nominal amount of the share capital issued as consideration for the acquisition amount to RMB628,000.

19 REVENUE

Group
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Income from sale of development properties 33,192 76,791

Property management income 498 144

Rental income   2,385      767

36,075 77,702

20 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Group
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest income 228 41

Others 26 –  

254 41
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21 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Group
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loss on disposal of equipment 175 –

Others   70 89

245 89

22 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Group
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current tax:

   PRC enterprise income tax 2,875 2,771

   Land appreciation tax 4,020 2,907

6,895 5,678

Deferred tax    439 1,606

Total 7,334 7,284

 The group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits from the jurisdictions in which members of the group 

are domiciled and operate.

 Singapore income tax is calculated at 17% (2011 : 17%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year.  No 

provision for Singapore income tax has been made as the group did not derive any taxable income in Singapore 

during the financial year.

 On March 16, 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“New Law”) by Order 

No.63 of the President of the PRC, with an effective date of January 1, 2008. On December 28, 2007, the State 

Council of the PRC issued Implementation Regulations of the New Law. Due to the New Law and Implementation 

Regulations, the PRC subsidiaries will be subject to 25% Enterprise Income Tax, commencing January 1, 2008.  

Accordingly, taxation arising in the PRC is calculated at the prevailing rate of 25% (2011 : 25%) for subsidiaries in 

PRC.

 The income tax expense varied from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying the above income 

tax rate to profit before income tax as a result of the following differences:

Group
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before tax 1,052 16,629

Income tax expense at statutory rate of the respective entities 1,469 4,157

Non-deductible items 1,855 50

Deferred tax benefits not recognised 31 2

Effect of land appreciation tax 3,015 2,180

Others 964 895

Total income tax expense 7,334   7,284
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22 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

 The PRC enterprise income tax rate represents the income tax rate applicable to the PRC subsidiaries of which the 

group’s principal operations are substantially based.

 The group has unutilised tax losses available for offset against future profits as follows:

Group
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amount at beginning of year 12 6

Amount arising in current year 124 6

Amount at end of year 136 12

Deferred tax benefit on above not recognised 34 3

 Pursuant to PRC tax regulations, for the years on which the tax losses are incurred, tax losses may be carried 

forward for 5 years subject to the conditions imposed by law including the retention of majority shareholders as 

defined.

23 (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

 (Loss) Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Group

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

Depreciation of equipment 256 443

Interest income (228) (41)

Initial public offering expenses (1) 8,318 –  

Employee benefits expense 

(including directors’ remuneration):

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 175 66

Salaries and other short-term benefits 4,542   1,540

Total employee benefits expense 4,717   1,606

Directors’ remuneration:

 of the company 1,373 –  

 of subsidiaries    452 120

Total directors’ remuneration 1,825 120

Audit fees:

-  auditors of the company 319 –  

-  other auditors 170 16

Cost of completed properties for sale recognised as expenses 18,056 57,236



Annual Report 2012
Starland Holdings Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2012

63

23 (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (Cont’d)

 (1) Included in initial public offering expenses are:

Group

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

Professional fees rendered for initial public offering:-

-  auditors of the company 802 –  

 less:  charged directly to equity 137 –   

   amount charged to profit or loss 665 –   

-  other auditors 926 –  

   less:  charged directly to equity 158 –   

   amount charged to profit or loss 768 –   

24 (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

 Loss per share for 2012 have been calculated based on the loss attributable to the owners of the company of 

RMB6,282,000 and weighted average share capital of 144,733,000 shares for year ended September 30, 2012. 

The earnings per share for September 30, 2011 was calculated based on profit attributed to the equity holders of 

the Group of RMB9,345,000 and pre-invitation shares of 120,000,000.

 The fully diluted loss and earnings per share and basic earnings per share are the same because there is no dilutive 

share.

25 SEGMENT INFORMATION

 The group’s reportable operating segments are the property development, rental income and property management 

and others.  Property development covers development of residential, commercial and other properties.

 Accordingly, the above are the group’s reportable segments under FRS 108 Operating Segments. Information 

regarding the group’s reportable segments is presented below.

 Operating segments are aggregated into a single reportable operating segment if they have similar economic 

characteristics and are similar in respect of nature of services and processes and/or their reported revenue.

  Segment Principal activities

 (a) Property development Development of residential, commercial and other properties.

 (b) Rental income Leasing of properties held for sale to generate rental income.

 (c) Property management and others Provision of property management services and others.
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25 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

 Information regarding the group’s reportable segments is presented in the tables below.

 Segment revenues and results

Revenue Profit (Loss)
2012 2011 2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Property development 33,192 76,791 10,735 15,677

Property management and others 498 144 (81) 144

Rental income   2,385 767 2,385 767

Total 36,075 77,702 13,039 16,588

Unallocated expense (12,215) –   

Interest income 228 41

Profit before income tax 1,052 16,629

Income tax   (7,334)  (7,284)

Consolidated (loss) profit   (6,282) 9,345

 Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales 

during the year (2011 : Nil).

 The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the group’s accounting policies described in 

Note 2. Segment profit represents profit earned by each segment without allocation of interest income.

 The group’s assets are mainly for property development, hence no analysis of segment assets is provided.

 The group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC, hence no analysis by geographical area of operations is 

provided.

 The group has a large number of customers and does not have any significant revenue arising from sales of 

properties to any major customers which are individually accounted for over 10% of the group’s total revenue.
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26 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

 The group as lessor

 The group rents outs its properties held for sale in the PRC under operating leases.  Property rental income earned 

during the year was RMB2,385,000 (2011 : RMB767,000).

 At the end of the reporting period, the group has contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease 

payments:

Group

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 2,206 2,321

In the second to fifth years inclusive 5,071 4,859

After five years 773 407

8,050 7,587

 The group as lessee

Group

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

Minimum lease payments under operating lease recognised as an expense 

 in the financial year 105 –

 

 At the end of the reporting period, the group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, 

which fall due as follows:

Group

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 106 –

In the second to fifth years inclusive 171 –

277 –

 Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the group for office premises.  The leases are negotiated for 

terms between 1 to 5 years and rentals are fixed during the term of the lease.

27 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

 The comparative financial statements of the group for the year ended September 30, 2011 as presented in these 

financial statements are consistent with those included in the offer document for the initial public offering of the 

company’s shares on Catalist, the sponsor-supervised board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

 The financial statements of the company are the financial period since incorporation to September 30, 2011.  This 

being the first set of financial statements, there are no comparative figures.
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Number of Shares in Issue : 144,733,000 

Class of shares : Ordinary shares 

Voting rights : One vote per ordinary share

    

DISTRIBUTION OF HOLDERS OF SHARES BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 14 DECEMBER 2012

SIZE OF
SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF
SHAREHOLDERS  %

NO. OF 
SHARES %

1             -    999 0   0.00 0 0.00

1,000      -    10,000 42 22.95 285,000 0.20

10,001    -    1,000,000 132 72.13 11,632,000 8.04

1,000,001    and above 9 4.92 132,816,000 91.76

183 100.00 144,733,000 100.00

TOP TWENTY HOLDERS OF SHARES AS AT 14 DECEMBER 2012

NAME OF SHAREHOLDER NO.  OF SHARES %

1 SUPER VANTAGE INVESTMENT LIMITED 81,600,000 56.38

2 ABLE LEAD INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 14,400,000 9.95

3 BILLION LIGHT INVESTMENT LIMITED 12,000,000 8.29

4 ZHONGLI INVESTMENT LIMITED 12,000,000 8.29

5 UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD          6,508,000 4.50

6 PRIMEPARTNERS CORPORATE FINANCE PTE LTD 2,533,000 1.75

7 NG SOO FWEE                   1,504,000 1.04

8 QUEK AI CHOO                  1,167,000 0.81

9 NG GUEK KEOW                  1,104,000 0.76

10 DBS VICKERS SECS (S) PTE LTD  800,000 0.55

11 CHONG SHAW WEE @ LIEW SHAW WEE 600,000 0.41

12 NG TECK SENG                  558,000 0.39

13 NG CHAI LIAN                  499,000 0.34

14 LEE EE @ LEE ENG              400,000 0.28

15 YEO SWEE KIANG                389,000 0.27

16 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD  370,000 0.26

17 NEO BEE TIN                   300,000 0.21

18 TEO SIEW KIAW                 300,000 0.21

19 CHERN DAR                     250,000 0.17

20 TAN CHENG SIEW                250,000 0.17

TOTAL: 137,532,000 95.03

Note: The percentages are computed based on 144,733,000 ordinary shares as at 14 December 2012.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 14 DECEMBER 2012

Name of substantial shareholders
Direct Interest Indirect Interest

No. of Shares % No. of shares %

Super Vantage Investment Limited 81,600,000 56.38 – –

Able Lead International Limited 14,400,000 9.95 – –

Zhongli Investment Limited 12,000,000 8.29 – –

Billion Light Investment Limited 12,000,000 8.29 – –

Tan Hoe San (1) – – 96,000,000 66.33

Fan Yi Ru (2) – – 96,000,000 66.33

Zhong Ma Ming (3) – – 12,000,000 8.29

Zhong Jia Feng (4) – – 12,000,000 8.29

Fu Zi Cong (5) – – 12,000,000 8.29

Chen Hui Bin (6) – – 12,000,000 8.29

Notes:

(1) Tan Hoe San is deemed to be interested in 96,000,000 shares which includes:

 (i) 81,600,000 shares held by Super Vantage Investment Limited; and

 (ii) 14,400,000 shares held by Able Lead International Limited by virtue of his spouse, Fan Yi Ru 

(2) Fan Yi Ru is deemed to be interested in 96,000,000 shares which includes:

 (i) 14,400,000 shares held by Able Lead International Limited; and

 (ii) 81,600,000 shares held by Super Vantage Investment Limited by virtue of her spouse, Tan Hoe San

(3) Deemed to be interested in 12,000,000 shares held by Zhongli Investment Limited by virtue of his son, Zhong Jia 

Feng.

(4) Deemed to be interested in 12,000,000 shares held by Zhongli Investment Limited.

(5) Deemed to be interested in 12,000,000 shares held by Billion Light Investment Limited by virtue of his spouse, Chen 

Hui Bin.

(6) Deemed to be interested in 12,000,000 shares held by Billion Light Investment Limited.

SHARES HELD BY PUBLIC

Based on the information available to the Company as at 14 December 2012, approximately 17.09% of the issued shares 

of the Company was held in the hands of the public as defined in the Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist of the 

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Rules of Catalist ”).  Accordingly, Rule 723 of the Rules of Catalist has 

been complied with.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Starland Holdings Limited (the “Company”) will be held 

at Gallery Hotel, Marley Room Level 4, 1 Nanson Road, Singapore 238909 on Monday, 28 January 2013 at 10.00 a.m. for 

the following purposes:

As Ordinary Business

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 September 2012 and the 

Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect Ms Fan Yi Ru, who is retiring pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association of the Company and 

has offered herself for re-election. 

 Ms Fan Yi Ru will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the Audit and 

Remuneration Committees. The Board considers her to be non-independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the 

Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Catalist 
Rules”).  (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect Mr Foong Daw Ching, who is retiring pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association of the Company 

and has offered himself for re-election. 

 Mr Foong Daw Ching will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the Audit 

Committee and a member of the Remuneration and Nominating Committees. The Board considers him to be 

independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.  (Resolution 3)

4. To re-elect Mr Low Wai Cheong, who is retiring pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association of the Company 

and has offered himself for re-election. 

 Mr Low Wai Cheong will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the 

Remuneration and Nominating Committees and a member of the Audit Committee. The Board considers him to be 

independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.  (Resolution 4)

5. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to S$70,356.17 for the financial year ended 30 September 

2012.  (Resolution 5)

6. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to S$120,000 for the financial year ending 30 September 

2013, payable half yearly in arrears.   (Resolution 6)

7. To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the 

Company to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 7)

8. To transact any other ordinary business which may be properly transacted at an annual general meeting. 
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As Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without modifications: 

9. Authority to Allot and Issue Shares 

 THAT pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (the “Act”) and Rule 806 of the 

Catalist Rules, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to:

 I (i) allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) (whether by way of rights, bonus or 

otherwise); and/or

   

   (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require 

Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) 

options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares, 

  at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 

Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

 II (notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue Shares 

in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was in force, 

  provided that: 

  (a) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares to be 

issued in pursuance of Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution), shall not exceed 

100% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) (as calculated in accordance 

with sub-paragraph (b) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other than 

on a pro rata basis to the existing shareholders of the Company (including Shares to be issued in 

pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) shall not exceed 50% of the 

total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) (as calculated in accordance with sub-

paragraph (b) below);

  (b) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of 

determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (a) above, the 

percentage of the issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) shall be based on the total number of 

issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for: 

   (i) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

   (ii) new Shares arising from exercise of share options or vesting of share awards which are 

outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution, provided the share 

options or share awards (as the case may be) were granted in compliance with Part VIII of 

Chapter 8 of the  Catalist Rules; and

   (iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares;

  (c) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions 

of the Catalist Rules for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the 

SGX-ST), all applicable legal requirements under the Act and the Articles of Association for the time 

being of the Company;

  (d) the authority conferred by this Resolution shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general 

meeting, continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting or the date by 

which the next annual general meeting is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

   [See Explanatory Note 1]  (Resolution 8)
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10. Authority to allot and issue shares pursuant to the Starland Performance Share Plan (the “Plan”) 

 THAT pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore, authority be and is hereby given to 

the Directors to offer and grant awards (“Awards”) in accordance with the provisions of the Plan and to allot and 

issue from time to time such number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be 

issued pursuant to the vesting of the Awards granted under the Plan, provided always that the aggregate number of 

Shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to the Plan, shall not exceed 15% of the total issued share capital of the 

Company (excluding treasury shares) on the date preceding the date of the relevant grant. 

 [See Explanatory Note 2]  (Resolution 9)

By Order of the Board

Teo Meng Keong 

Company Secretary

Singapore

10 January 2013

Explanatory Notes:

(1) Resolution 8

 This is to empower the Directors of the Company, effective until conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, 

or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied 

or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to allot and issue Shares, make or grant Instruments 

convertible into Shares and to issue Shares pursuant to such Instruments, without seeking any further approval from shareholders 

in general meeting but within the limitation imposed by this Resolution, for such purposes as the Directors of the Company 

may consider would be in the best interests of the Company. The aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be made in 

pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) to be allotted and issued would not exceed 100% of the 

total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) at the time of passing of this Resolution. For issue of Shares (including 

Shares to be made in pursuance of instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) other than on a pro-rata basis to 

all shareholders shall not exceed 50% of the total issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) at the time of the passing of this 

Resolution. 

(2) Resolution 9 

 This is to authorise the Directors of the Company to offer and grant options in accordance with the provisions of the Plan and to allot 

and issue Shares under the Plan up to an amount not exceeding 15% of the Company’s total number of issued Shares (excluding 

treasury shares) on the date preceding the date of the relevant grant. 

Notes:

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not 

more than two proxies to attend in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2.  Where a member appoints two proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy in the 

instrument appointing the proxies. 

3. If the member is a corporation, the instrument appointing the proxy must be under seal or the hand of an officer or attorney duly 

authorised.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share 

Registration Services at 80 Robinson Road, #02-00, Singapore 068898, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for 

holding the Annual General Meeting.



STARLAND HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore 

(Company Registration No. 201131382E)

PROXY FORM

I/We,  (Name) 

of  (Address) 

being a member/members of STARLAND HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint : 

Name Address NRIC/Passport No.

Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport No.

Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting of the Company, as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote 

for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 

Gallery Hotel, Marley Room Level 4, 1 Nanson Road, Singapore 238909 on Monday, 28 January 2013 at 10.00 a.m. and at 

any adjournment thereof. 

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the resolutions as 

set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as 

he/she/they may think fit, as he/she/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.)

ORDINARY BUSINESS For Against

Resolution 1 To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 

30 September 2012 and the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon

Resolution 2 To re-elect Ms Fan Yi Ru as a Director of the Company

Resolution 3 To re-elect Mr Foong Daw Ching as a Director of the Company 

Resolution 4 To re-elect Mr Low Wai Cheong as a Director of the Company

Resolution 5 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to S$70,356.17 for the 

financial year ended 30 September 2012

Resolution 6 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to S$120,000 for the 

financial year ending 30 September 2013, payable half yearly in arrears

Resolution 7 To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company and to 

authorise the Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

Resolution 8 To approve the authority to allot and issue shares 

Resolution 9 To approve the authority to allot and issue shares pursuant to the Starland 

Performance Share Plan

Date this  day of  2013

Signature(s) of members(s) or Common Seal

Important: Please read notes overleaf

Important:

1 For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy STARLAND 

HOLDINGS LIMITED’s shares, this Annual Report is forwarded to them 

at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely For 

Information Only.

2 This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be 

ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by 

them.

3 CPF investors who wish to vote should contact their CPF Approved 

Nominees.

Total Number of Shares held in : 

CDP Register

Register of Members





NOTES:
IMPORTANT

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as 

defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares 

registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares 

entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert 

the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you. 

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies 

to attend and vote on his behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.  

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the member must specify the proportion of shareholdings (expressed as a percentage of the 

whole) to be represented by each proxy. If no proportion of shareholdings is specified, the proxy whose name appears first shall be 

deemed to carry 100 per cent of the shareholdings of his/its appointor and the proxy whose name appears after shall be deemed to be 

appointed in the alternate. 

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share 

Registration Services at 80 Robinson Road, #02-00, Singapore 068898, not less than 48 hours before the time set for the Annual 

General Meeting. 

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. 

Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the 

hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. 

6. Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney (or other 

authority) or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, 

failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid. 

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act 

as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore. 

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or 

where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a 

proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a 

proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register 

as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the 

Company.
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This annual report and its content has been reviewed by the Company’s sponsor, Prime Partners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd. (the “Sponsor”), for compliance 
with the relevant rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”). The Sponsor has not independently verified the contents of this 
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